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Explanatory Note:
 

This Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A is filed to amend the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “Company”) with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 28, 2021 (the “Initial Form 8-K”), which was filed in connection with the closing of the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of Fyber N.V., a public
limited liability company registered with the Netherlands Chamber of Commerce Business Register (“Fyber”), on May 25, 2021. This Amendment No. 1 on Form 8-K/A is filed
for the purpose of amending the Initial Form 8-K to provide certain historical audited financial statements of Fyber and unaudited pro forma financial information of the
Company, including an earlier acquisition of AdColony Holding AS, and Fyber after giving effect to the Acquisition as required by Item 9.01 and pursuant to Rule 3-05 of
Regulation S-X and Article 11 of Regulation S-X and the Consent of Somekh Chaikin, member firm of KPMG International, filed herewith as Exhibit 23.1. The other items to
the Initial Form 8-K remain unchanged and are not amended hereby.
 

In addition, set forth in Item 8.01 of this Form 8-K/A is an updated description of the Company’s business to include both the Fyber and the AdColony Holding AS
businesses.
 
Item 8.01 Other Events
 
Current Operations
 

Digital Turbine, Inc., through its subsidiaries, is a leading end-to-end solution for mobile technology companies to enable advertising and monetization solutions. Its
digital media platform powers frictionless end-to-end application and brand discovery and advertising, user acquisition and engagement, operational efficiency, and
monetization opportunities. The Company provides on-device solutions to all participants in the mobile application ecosystem that want to connect with end users and
consumers who hold the device, including mobile carriers and device original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) that participate in the app economy, app publishers and
developers, and brands and advertising agencies.
 

With global headquarters in Austin, Texas and offices in Durham, North Carolina; San Francisco, California; Arlington, Virginia; São Paulo, Brazil; Mexico City,
Mexico; Mumbai, India; Singapore; Poland, Germany, Norway, Sweden, Turkey, Indonesia and Tel Aviv, Israel, the Company’s solutions are available worldwide. For
additional information, please visit www.digitalturbine.com.



 
On Device Media
 

Through June 30, 2021, Digital Turbine’s technology platform has been adopted by over 40 mobile operators and OEMs and has delivered more than 5.3 billion
application preloads for tens of thousands of advertising campaigns.
 

The Company’s On Device Media business consists of products and services that simplify the discovery and delivery of mobile applications and content media for
device end-users.
 

· Application Media represents the portion of the business where our platform delivers apps to end users through partnerships with carrier networks and
OEMs. Application Media optimizes revenues by using developed technology to streamline, track, and manage app install demand from hundreds of application
developers across various publishers, carriers, OEMs, and devices.

 
· Content Media represents the portion of the business where our platform presents news, weather, sports, and other content directly within the native device experience

(e.g., as the start page in the mobile browser, a widget, on unlock, etc.) through partnerships with carrier networks and OEMs. Content Media optimizes revenue by a
combination of:

 
◦ Programmatic Ad Partner Revenue – advertising within the content media that’s sold on an ad exchange at a market rate (CPM - Cost Per Thousand);

 
◦ Sponsored Content – sponsored content media from 3rd party content providers, presented similarly to an ad, that is monetized when a recommended story is

viewed (CPC – Cost Per Click);
 

◦ Editorial Content – owned or licensed media, presented similarly to an ad, that is monetized when the media is clicked on (CPC - Cost Per Click).
 

 

 

 
In App Media—Fyber (Supply)
 

Digital Turbine provides advanced tools and services for mobile app publishers and developers to automate and optimize marketing and profitability of their apps.
With Digital Turbine and its subsidiary technologies, mobile application developers and mobile first brands are able to manage, optimize and analyze their marketing
investments and improve the monetization of their apps.
 

Our supply side platform technologies:
 

· store and manage anonymized data from mobile devices we reach every day, which enables better production and matching of users to relevant advertising content;
 

· enable developers to have their mobile apps discovered and downloaded by target users, thereby enhancing return on marketing spend; and
 

· utilize advanced in-app bidding technology that optimizes the value of a developer’s advertising inventory through real-time bidding.
 

Our relationships with brand advertisers, agencies and other ad buyers offers app publishers and developers the opportunity to engage in direct-sold campaigns,
providing more optionality for publishers and developers to monetize their apps.
 
In App Media—AdColony (Demand)
 

The Company’s In App Media Demand business consists of products and services to enable brands, advertising agencies and other digital ad buyers to navigate the
complexities of the mobile app ecosystem and engage in direct-sold and programmatic advertising to optimize their digital media campaigns. Our products and services enable
brands and advertisers to effectively target and measure their advertising campaigns across nearly every media channel and device. Our customers include prominent brand
advertisers such as Disney, Starbucks, Unilever and Toyota and many more brands and agencies. With our business model, we are a supplier of in-app inventory in the mobile
space, both within apps and directly on the device, giving advertisers wider targeting options for user acquisition. In addition, our demand side platform enables mobile
advertisers to engage in programmatic campaigns that optimize user acquisition and ROI while providing verified viewability rates, thereby allowing advertisers to target the
advertising inventory they value most and measure campaign outcomes.
 
Recent Acquisitions
 

Mobile Posse, Inc. On February 28, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of Mobile Posse, Inc. The acquisition of Mobile Posse is consistent with the
Company’s strategy to provide a comprehensive media and advertising solution for operator and OEM partners while enriching the mobile experience for end users by
delivering relevant media rich content to their fingertips. The addition of Mobile Posse’s offerings provides synergies and options for our partners and advertisers. The
Company’s suite of offerings continue to focus on promoting higher user engagement and boosting advertising revenue for mobile operators and OEMs.
 

Appreciate. On March 2, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Triapodi Ltd. (d/b/a Appreciate) in exchange for total consideration of
$20.0 million in cash and payment of up to $6.0 million in retention bonuses and performance bonuses to the founders and certain other employees of Appreciate. Appreciate is
a programmatic mobile advertising demand side platform company headquartered in Israel. Appreciate’s platform collaborates closely with mobile measurement partners
(“MMPs”), exchanges, advertisers, and other partners to programmatically provide a transparent ecosystem designed to optimize user acquisition and ROI for the mobile
advertisers utilizing its platform. Deploying Appreciate’s technology expertise across Digital Turbine’s global scale and reach should further benefit partners and advertisers
that are a part of the combined Company’s platform.
 

 

 

 
AdColony Holding AS. On April 29, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of AdColony Holding AS, a Norway company (“AdColony”), pursuant to a Share

Purchase Agreement with AdColony and Otello Corporation ASA, a Norway company and the sole shareholder of AdColony (“Otello”). The Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of AdColony in exchange for an estimated total consideration in the range of $400.0 million to $425.0 million, to be paid as follows: (1) $100.0 million
in cash paid at closing (which was subject to customary closing purchase price adjustments), (2) $100.0 million in cash to be paid six months after closing, and (3) an estimated
earn-out in the range of $200.0 million to $225.0 million, to be paid in cash, based on AdColony achieving certain future target net revenues, less associated cost of goods sold
(as such term is referenced in the Share Purchase Agreement), over a 12-month period ending on December 31, 2021 (the “Earn-Out Period”). Under the terms of the earn-out,
the Company would pay Otello a certain percentage of actual net revenues (less associated cost of goods sold, as such term is referenced in the Share Purchase Agreement) of
AdColony depending on the extent to which AdColony achieves certain target net revenues (less associated cost of goods sold, as such term is referenced in the Share Purchase



Agreement) over the Earn-Out Period. The earn-out payment will be made following the expiration of the Earn-Out Period. The Company paid the closing amount and intends
to pay the remainder of the purchase price with a combination of available cash on hand and borrowings under its existing senior credit facility along with proceeds from future
capital financing. AdColony is a leading mobile advertising platform servicing advertisers and publishers. AdColony’s proprietary video technologies and rich media formats
are widely viewed as a best-in-class technology delivering third-party verified viewability rates for well-known global brands. These operations are now reflected in our In App
Media—AdColony (Demand) segment.
 

Fyber, N.V. On May 25, 2021, the Company completed the initial closing of the acquisition of at least 95% of the outstanding voting shares (the “Majority Fyber
Shares”), of Fyber N.V., a public limited liability company registered with the Netherlands Chamber of Commerce Business Register (“Fyber”), pursuant to a Sale and Purchase
Agreement between Tennor Holding B.V., Advert Finance B.V., and Lars Windhorst (collectively, the “Seller”), the Company, and DT Luxembourg. The Seller transferred and
delivered 400,000,000 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to Digital Turbine Media, Inc., a Delaware Corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“DT
Media”), on the closing date, and the Seller transferred and delivered another 125,805,997 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to DT Media in June-July 2021. The remaining
outstanding shares in Fyber (the “Minority Fyber Shares”) are (to the Company’s knowledge) widely held by other shareholders of Fyber (the “Minority Fyber Shareholders”).
 

The Company acquired Fyber in exchange for an estimated aggregate consideration of up to $600 million, consisting of (i) $150 million in cash, which was subject to
adjustments for certain items, approximately $124.3 million of which was paid to the Seller at the closing of the acquisition and the remainder of which will be paid to the
Minority Fyber Shareholders for the Minority Fyber Shares pursuant to the tender offer described below, (ii) 3,216,935 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company
issued to the Seller at the closing of the acquisition, (iii) 2,540,364 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company issued to the Seller in June-July 2021, (iv) an
additional 59,289 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company to be issued to the Seller but subject to a true-up reduction based on increased transaction costs
associated with the staggered delivery of the Majority Fyber Shares to the Company, and (v) contingent upon Fyber’s net revenues (determined in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards) being equal or higher than $100 million for the 12-month earn-out period ending on March 31, 2022, as determined in the manner set forth in the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, a certain number of shares of Company common stock, which will be newly-issued to the Seller at the end of the earn-out period, and under
certain circumstances, an amount of cash, which value of such shares and cash in aggregate will not exceed $50 million (subject to set-off against certain potential
indemnification claims against the Seller). The Company paid the cash closing amount on the closing date, and intends to pay the remainder of the cash consideration for the
acquisition with a combination of available cash on hand, borrowings under the Company’s senior credit facility, and proceeds from future capital financings.
 

Pursuant to certain German law on public takeovers, following the closing, the Company launched a public tender offer to the Minority Fyber Shareholders to acquire
from them the Minority Fyber Shares. The tender offer is subject to certain minimum price rules under German law. The timing and the conditions of the tender offer, including
the consideration of EUR 0.84 per share offered to the Minority Fyber Shareholders in connection with the tender offer, was determined by the Company pursuant to the
applicable Dutch and German takeover laws. The Company anticipates completing the tender offer during the second fiscal quarter 2022.
 

Fyber is a leading mobile advertising monetization platform empowering global app developers to optimize profitability through quality advertising.  Fyber’s
proprietary technology platform and expertise in mediation, real-time bidding, advanced analytics tools, and video combine to deliver publishers and advertisers a highly
valuable app monetization solution. These operations are now reflected in our In App Media—Fyber (Supply) segment.
 

 

 

 
Information about Segment and Geographic Revenue

 
Prior to the acquisitions of AdColony and Fyber, the Company had one operating and reportable segment called Media Distribution. As a result of the acquisitions, the

Company reassessed its operating and reportable segments and, effective April 1, 2021, the Company reports its results of operations through the three segments: On Device
Media, In App Media—Fyber (Supply), and In App Media—AdColony (Demand).
 
On Device Media
 

The Company’s On Device Media business is an advertiser solution for unique and exclusive carrier and OEM inventory, which is comprised of our core platform and
other recurring and life-cycle products, features, and professional services delivered on this platform.
 

Our technology platform enables mobile operators and OEMs to control, manage, and monetize devices through application installation at the time of activation and
over the life of a mobile device through a variety of offerings, allowing mobile operators to personalize the application activation experience for customers and monetize their
home screens via revenue share agreements such as: Cost-Per-Install (CPI), Cost-Per-Placement (CPP), Cost-Per-Action (CPA) with third-party advertisers; or via Per-Device-
License Fees (PDL) agreements which allow operators and OEMs to leverage the platform, products, and features for a structured fee. There are several different delivery
methods available to operators and OEMs on first boot of the device: Wizard, Silent, or Software Development Kit (“SDK”). We also provide additional platform monetization
options, outside of our core application delivery technology, that monetize user actions over the life-cycle of a device by delivering targeted media-rich advertising content to
the end-user. Additional products and features are available throughout the life-cycle of the device that provide operators and OEMs an opportunity for additional revenue
streams through programmatic advertising and targeted media delivery, which allows operators to monetize their operator-branded on-phone applications by showing in-
application advertisements via cost-per-thousand impression arrangements and page-view arrangements. The Company has launched its platform with mobile operators and
OEMs in North America, Latin America, Europe, Asia Pacific, India and Israel.
 
In App Media—Fyber (Supply)
 

The Company’s In App Media—Fyber (Supply) business is a solution for mobile app publishers and developers to generate revenue and profitability from digital
advertising. The Company offers the following solutions:
 

· Ad exchange: the Fyber Marketplace is a programmatic ad exchange for the in-app environment, offering demand across video and display ad formats. The exchange
brings together thousands of app developers and their global audiences with more than 180 advertising partners that bid on app inventory as part of ad campaigns.

 
· Ad mediation: technology providing app developers with the infrastructure to configure ad placements within their apps and connect, manage and optimize a variety of

ad networks through a single integration and interface.
 

· App bidding: Fyber FairBid brings together programmatic mediation and app bidding into a real-time auction protocol to unify all connected demand sources into a
single competitive bidding process for every single ad opportunity.

 
· Offer Wall Edge: technology providing an opt-in, value-exchange ad format for users (primarily used for gaming apps) with a list of offers from various advertisers,

ranging from watching a video or completing a survey to trying another game. Each offer is assigned a value.
 

Customers provide insertion orders or equivalent contracts for advertising during campaign windows where Fyber provides, inserts, and tracks the performance of the
advertising to serve as the direct supplier for the customer. Alternatively, Fyber also contracts with customers using a framework agreement that is not specific to a campaign or
budget, but instead determines parameters for the mobile advertising service. Customers will contract for these services, which are monetized through a measurement of user
impressions, clicks, or installs of the target product or service offered by the customer. Fyber’s customers generally pay subsequent to the total aggregation of the impressions,
clicks, and installs billed, generally, on a monthly basis. Specifically, the aggregation follows the below events and parameters:
 



· When a user installs a game (i.e., a user plays a game, sees advertising, clicks on it, and installs another game) based on a CPA (cost per action) arrangement.
· When a mobile ad is delivered to a user, based on a CPM (cost per thousand impressions) arrangement (i.e., every thousand impressions of a mobile ad inside the

publisher's inventory, which can be on a mobile app or website).
· When a user plays a mobile video ad all the way to completion, based on a CPCV (cost per completed view) arrangement.
· When a user clicks on a mobile ad, based on a CPC (cost per click) arrangement (i.e., after each instance when an ad is clicked inside the publisher's inventory).

 
In App Media—AdColony (Demand)
 

The Company’s In App Media—AdColony (Demand) business offers prominent brand advertisers such as Disney, Starbucks, Unilever, Toyota, and many more to
engage in digital ad campaigns and reach end users on their mobile devices. The Company provides both direct and programmatic advertising solutions for brands and agencies,
providing greater optionality to design campaigns, target audiences, optimize marketing spend, and measure campaign outcomes.
 

 

 

 
The Company’s demand side platform (“DSP”) is directly connected to ad exchange marketplaces through server-to-server integrations and permit the bidding on and

purchasing of advertising inventory available in these marketplaces. Our DSP technology provides multiple, easy-to-use automation tools that help advertisers focus on
managing the key factors affecting their campaigns. The Company’s platform allows advertisers to easily define and manage advertising campaigns with multiple targeting
parameters, which provides advertisers with the ability to target audiences with an extremely high level of precision and thus obtain higher returns on their advertising spend.
Our platform provides integrated access to a wide range of inventory and data sources, as well as third-party services such as ad servers, ad verification services and survey
vendors. Our platform’s integration of these sources and services enables advertisers to deploy their budgets through a wide variety of channels, media screens and formats,
targeted in their desired manner, through a single platform.
 

Customers provide insertion orders for advertising during campaign windows where AdColony provides, inserts, and tracks the performance of the advertising to serve
as the direct supplier for the customer. Customers will contract for these services, which is monetized through a measurement of user views, clicks, or installs of the target
product or service offered by the customer. AdColony's customers generally pay subsequent to the total aggregation of the views, clicks, and installs billed, generally, on a
monthly basis. Specifically, the aggregation follows the below events and parameters:
 

· When a user installs a game (i.e., a user plays a game, sees advertising, clicks on it, and installs another game), based on a cost per install (CPI) arrangement.
· When a mobile ad is delivered to a user, based on a CPM (cost per thousand impressions) arrangement (i.e., every thousand impressions of a mobile ad inside the

publisher's inventory, which can be on a mobile app or website).
· When a user plays a mobile video ad all the way to completion, based on a CPCV (cost per completed view) arrangement.
· When a user clicks on a mobile ad, based on a CPC (cost per click) arrangement (i.e., after each instance when an ad is clicked inside the publisher's inventory).

 
The Company uses the data captured by its platform to build predictive models around user characteristics, such as demographic, purchase intent or interest data. Data

from our platform is continually fed back into these models, which enables them to improve over time as the use of our platform increases. Our platform continuously collects
data regarding inventory availability. Real-time campaign delivery and spend totals are used to manage campaign budgets and goal caps, as well as campaign reporting. This
data is fed back into our optimization engine to improve campaign performance, and into machine-learning models for user demographic predictive modeling.
 
Competition
 

We operate in a highly competitive and fragmented mobile app ecosystem composed of divisions of large, well-established companies as well as public and privately-
held companies. The large companies in our ecosystem may play multiple different roles given the breadth of their businesses.
 

 

• Our primary competition for on-device media comes from the Google Play application store. Broadly, our on-device media platform faces competition from existing
operator solutions built internally, as well as companies providing application and content media products and services, such as: Facebook,
Snapchat, IronSource, InMobi, Cheetah Mobile, Baidu, Magnite, Applovin, and others. These companies can be both customers for Digital Turbine products, as well as
competitors in certain cases. We compete with smaller competitors, but the more material competition is internally-developed operator solutions and specific media
distribution solutions built in-house by OEMs and wireless operators. Some of our existing wireless operators could make a strategic decision to develop their own
solutions rather than continue to use our suite of products, which could be a material source of competition.
 

 

 

 

 
• Advertisers typically engage with several advertising platforms and networks to purchase advertisements on mobile devices and apps, looking to optimize their marketing

investments. Such advertising platform companies vary in size and include players such as Facebook, Google, Amazon, and Unity Software, as well as various private
companies. Several of these platforms are also our partners and clients.

   

 • We compete with other demand-side platform providers, some of which are smaller, privately-held companies and others are divisions of large, well-established
companies such as AT&T, Google and Adobe.

 
We believe that the principal competitive factors in the mobile app ecosystems are:

 
 • the ability to enhance and improve technologies and offerings;
 
 • knowledge, expertise, and experience in the mobile app ecosystem;
 
 • relationships with third parties in the mobile app ecosystem;
 
 • the ability to reach and target a large number of users;
 
 • the ability to identify and execute on strategic transactions;
 
 • the ability to successfully monetize mobile apps;
 
 • the pricing and perceived value of offerings;
 
 • brand and reputation; and
 



 • ability to expand into new offerings and geographies.
 
Product Development
 

Our product development expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits for employees working on campaign management, creating, developing, editing,
programming, performing quality assurance, obtaining carrier ratification and deploying our products across various mobile phone carriers, OEMs, advertisers, publishers and
on our internal platforms. We devote substantial resources to the development, technology support, and quality assurance of our products. Total product development costs
incurred for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were $20.1 million, $12.0 million, and $10.9 million, respectively.
 
Intellectual Property
 

We consider our trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, patent and other intellectual property rights, including those in our know-how and the software code of our
proprietary technology, to be, in the aggregate, material to our business. We protect our intellectual property rights by relying on federal and state statutory and common law
rights, foreign laws where applicable, as well as contractual restrictions.
 

We have patent and patent applications in the U.S. and outside the U.S., including in Israel and Canada, and we own and use trademarks and service marks on or in
connection with our proprietary technology and related services, including both unregistered common law marks and issued trademark registrations.
 

We design, test and update our products, services and websites regularly, and we have developed our proprietary solutions in-house. Our know-how is an important
element of our intellectual property. The development and management of our platform requires sophisticated coordination among many specialized employees. We take steps
to protect our know-how, trade secrets and other confidential information, in part, by entering into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, developers and
vendors who have access to our confidential information, and generally limiting access to and distribution of our confidential information.
 

 

 

 
We intend to pursue additional intellectual property protection to the extent we believe it would advance our business objectives and maintain our competitive position.

 
Contracts with Customers
 

We have both exclusive and non-exclusive carrier and OEM agreements. Our agreements with advertisers and publishers are generally non-exclusive. Our carrier and
OEM agreements for our on-device media business are multi-year agreements, with terms that are generally longer than one to two years. In addition, some carrier agreements
provide that the carrier can terminate the agreement early and, in some instances, at any time without cause, which could give them the ability to renegotiate economic or other
terms. The agreements generally do not obligate the carriers to market or distribute any of our products or services.
 

We generally have numerous advertisers who represent a significant level of business. Coupled with advertiser concentration, we distribute a significant level of
advertising through one operator. If such advertising clients or this operator decided to materially reduce or discontinue its use of our platform, it could cause an immediate and
significant decline in our revenue and negatively affect our results of operations and financial condition.
 

With respect to customer revenue concentration, during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, no single customer represented more than 10% of net revenues. During
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, one major customer, Oath Inc., a subsidiary of Verizon Communications, represented 15.3% of net revenues. During the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2019, one major customers, Oath Inc., a subsidiary of Verizon Communications, represented 28.6% of net revenues.
 

With respect to partner revenue concentration, the Company partners with mobile carriers and OEMs to deliver applications on our platform through the carrier
network. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, T-Mobile US Inc., including Sprint and other subsidiaries, a carrier partner, generated 26.4%; AT&T Inc., including its
Cricket subsidiary, a carrier partner, generated 22.3%; Verizon Wireless, a subsidiary of Verizon Communications, a carrier partner, generated 18.5%; and America Movil,
primarily through its subsidiary Tracfone Wireless Inc., a carrier partner, generated 10.8%, of our net revenues. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020, Verizon Wireless,
a subsidiary of Verizon Communications, a carrier partner, generated 37.3%, while AT&T Inc., including its Cricket subsidiary, a carrier partner, generated 30.0% of our net
revenues. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, Verizon Wireless, a subsidiary of Verizon Communications, a carrier partner, generated 45.9%, while AT&T Inc.,
including its Cricket subsidiary, a carrier partner, generated 38.7% of our net revenues.
 

Under our contracts with carriers and OEMs, the carriers and OEMs control, manage, and monetize the mobile device through the marketing of application slots or
advertisement space/inventory to advertisers and deliver the applications or advertisements to the mobile device. The Company generally offers these services under a revenue
share model or, to a lesser extent, a customer contract per-device license fee model for a two-to-four year software as a service ("SaaS") license agreement.
 

The Company generally offers application management advertising services to advertisers under customer contract arrangements with third-party advertisers and
developers, as described under “In App Media—AdColony (Demand)” above, generally in the form of insertion orders that specify the type of arrangement (as detailed above)
at particular set budget amounts/restraints. These advertiser customer contracts are generally short-term in nature, at less than one year, as the budget amounts are typically
spent in full within this time period.
 

The Company generally offers programmatic and direct-sold advertising services under customer contract arrangements as described under “In App Media—Fyber
(Supply)” above. The Company’s customers can offer/bid on each individual display ad and the highest bid wins the right to fill each ad impression. When the bid is won, the
ad will be received and placed on the mobile device. The entire process happens almost instantaneously and on a continuous basis. The advertising exchanges bill and collect
from the winning bidders and provide daily and monthly reports of the activity to the Company.
 

 

 

 
Business Seasonality
 

Our revenue, cash flow from operations, operating results and other key operating and financial measures may vary from quarter to quarter due to the seasonal nature
of advertiser spending. For example, many advertisers (and their agencies) devote a disproportionate amount of their budgets to the fourth quarter of the calendar year to
coincide with increased holiday spending. We expect our revenue, cash flow, operating results and other key operating and financial measures to fluctuate based on seasonal
factors from period to period and expect these measures to be generally higher in the third and fourth fiscal quarters than in prior quarters.
 
People and Culture
 

We believe the strength of our workforce is critical to our success as we strive to become a more inclusive and diverse technology company. As of June 30, 2021, we
employed approximately 900 full-time employees. Our key human capital management objectives are to attract, retain, and develop the talent we need to deliver on our



commitment to offer and deliver exceptional products and services. Examples of our key programs and initiatives that are focused to achieve these objectives include:
 

Total Compensation and Benefits. Our guiding principles are anchored on the goals of being able to attract, incentivize, and retain talented employees. We believe in
economic security for all employees and have adopted a Living Wage policy. All employees are eligible for performance bonuses of at least 10% of base salary, which can be
paid out significantly higher based on performance. In addition, each employee receives a new-hire long-term incentive stock option grant and an annual long-term incentive
stock option grant, based upon performance. We also provide our employees twelve weeks of paid short-term disability at 100% of base pay, which includes parental leave.
 

Inclusion and Diversity. We take great pride in our diversity and inclusion. We seek a diverse and inclusive work environment and transparently measure our progress
to ensure that our employee populations are reflective of the communities in which we reside. We evaluate all of our people practices, particularly in talent acquisition and pay
equity. We benchmark our demographics to our industry, both at an overall level and a professional category level (VPs and above, directors, managers, individual contributors
and administrative), and note that we either are at the high end or exceed the benchmark in every diversity category.
 

Culture and Values. We have adopted our culture values of Hustle, Results, Accountability, Global, Freedom and Laugh to help create and foster a culture where every
employee is empowered, engaged and trusted to be their best at work. We sponsor and support our Community Action Teams, which is an employee-led program designed to
create purposeful action to build a stronger and better-connected team. The Community Action Teams have helped drive meaningful advancements in on- boarding, cross-
functional understanding, a mentoring program, and a Digital Turbine Gives campaign where employees volunteer in the community over a six-week period on an annual basis.
 

Workplace Flexibility. As part of our “Freedom” value, and before the COVID-19 pandemic drove a shift to remote work, we established a workplace strategy to
provide more flexible work options to enable employees to work from the location and the schedule they desire. As a result, we had process, culture, and technology in place
that allowed us to seamlessly pivot to a fully remote workforce following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result of the shift to fully remote work, we provided an
allowance of up to one thousand dollars for each employee for home office set-up or personal expenses such as tutoring or caregiving services. We also re-purposed computers
for employees who required more devices to support remote learning for dependents.
 
Government Regulation
 

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters central to our business. These laws and regulations involve
matters including privacy, data use, data protection and personal information, rights of publicity, content, intellectual property, advertising, marketing, consumer protection,
taxation, anti-corruption and political law compliance, and securities law compliance. In particular, we are subject to federal, state, and foreign laws regarding privacy and
protection of people’s data. Foreign data protection, privacy, and other laws and regulations can impose different obligations or be more restrictive than those in the United
States. Refer to the Company’s risk factors disclosed in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 and updates to such risk factors described in
subsequent periodic reports filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for
further discussion of government regulations and the associated risks.
 

 

 

 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits
 
(a)            Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired.
 

The audited financial statements of Fyber as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020 are filed as
Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 8-K/A and incorporated herein by reference.

 
(b)            Pro forma Financial Information.
 

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information of the Company, AdColony Holding AS and Fyber as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
is filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Form 8-K/A and is incorporated herein by reference.

 
(d)            Exhibits.
 

Exhibit No.  Description
23.1  Consent of Somekh Chaikin, member firm of KPMG International, independent accountants of Fyber N.V.

   
99.1  Audited financial statements of Fyber N.V. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020.

   
99.2  Unaudited pro forma combined financial information of the Company, AdColony Holding AS, and Fyber N.V. as of and for the fiscal year ended

March 31, 2021.
   

104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

 

 

 
SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto

duly authorized.
 
 Digital Turbine, Inc.
Dated: August 9, 2021  
  
 By:  /s/ Barrett Garrison
  Barrett Garrison
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

 

 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
Consent of Independent Auditors
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-193022, No. 333-202863 and No. 333-250111) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-230785) on
Form S-3 of Digital Turbine, Inc. of our report dated August 5, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Fyber N.V., which report appears in the Form 8-
K/A of Digital Turbine, Inc. dated August 9, 2021.
 
/s/ Somekh Chaikin  
Member Firm of KPMG International  
August 9, 2021  
Tel Aviv, Israel  
 

 

 



Exhibit 99.1
 
Fyber N.V.
 
Consolidated financial statements 2020
 

 
Independent Auditors’ Report

 
The Supervisory Board
Fyber N.V.
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fyber N.V. and its subsidiaries (the "Group") which comprise the consolidated statements of financial
position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of loss, other comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
Auditors’ Responsibility
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Opinion
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1.3 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered losses from operations, has a net working capital deficit, and has credit facilities that are due to be repaid in 2021
that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these
matters are also described in Note 1.3. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion
is not modified in respect to this matter.
 
 
/s/ Somekh Chaikin
 
Member Firm of KPMG International
 
Tel Aviv, Israel
August 5, 2021
 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF LOSS
 

     Year ended 31 December  
  Notes   2020   2019  

 
      

     in € thousands  
Revenue  5    209,772   118,973 
Cost of sales  7,8    (179,276)   (99,520)
Gross profit      30,496   19,453 
            
Other operating income  6    0   1,348 
Research and development expenses  7,9    (12,100)   (12,775)
Sales and marketing expenses  7,10    (14,970)   (15,910)
General and administrative expenses  7,11    (7,745)   (8,774)
Other operating expenses  12    (461)   (3,843)
Operating loss      (4,780)   (20,501)
Finance income      83   72 
Finance expenses      (10,588)   (28,800)
Net finance costs  13    (10,505)   (28,728)
Loss before taxes on income      (15,285)   (49,229)



Taxes on income  14    (215)   460 
Loss for the year      (15,500)   (48,769)
Loss attributable to            

Shareholders of Fyber N.V.      (15,500)   (48,769)
Earnings per share            

Basic loss per share (€)  16    (0.04)   (0.18)
Diluted loss per share (€)  16    (0.04)   (0.18)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 

     Year ended 31 December  
 

 
 

  

  Notes   2020   2019  
     in € thousands  

Loss for the year      (15,500)   (48,769)
Other comprehensive income (loss) that will be reclassified to profit and loss in subsequent periods            

Exchange differences on currency translation  27.6    (6,456)   1,992 
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax      (6,456)   1,992 
Total comprehensive loss for the year      (21,956)   (46,777)
            
Comprehensive loss attributable to            

Shareholders of Fyber N.V.      (21,956)   (46,777)
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 

     Year ended 31 December  
  Notes   2020   2019  

       

     in € thousands  
Non-current assets            
            
Goodwill  17    128,650   134,932 
Other intangible assets  18    8,724   13,402 
Intangible assets      137,374   148,334 
Property and equipment  19    8,775   8,519 
Non-current financial assets  20    3,845   4,272 
Total non-current assets      149,994   161,125 
            
Current assets            
Inventories  21    0   82 
Trade and other receivables  22    64,983   29,531 
Other current financial assets  23    1,827   3,898 
Prepayments  24    1,189   1,430 
Cash and cash equivalents  26    25,972   12,876 
Total current assets      93,971   47,817 
Total assets      243,965   208,942 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
 
     Year ended 31 December  
  Notes   2020   2019  

  

     in € thousands  
Equity             
Issued capital   27.1    37,219   36,187 
Share premium   27.1    251,948   250,389 
Treasury shares   27.2    (4,551)   (4,745)
Other capital reserves   27.3    31,446   30,489 
Legal reserve capitalized self-developed intangible assets   27.4    8,627   7,980 
Retained earnings   27.5    (303,116)   (286,969)
Foreign currency translation reserve   27.6    (6,711)   (255)
Total equity       14,862   33,076 
             
Non-current liabilities             
Employee benefits   28    233   238 
Loans and borrowings   29    111,208   102,725 



Other non-current liabilities   30    12,684   12,536 
Total non-current liabilities       124,125   115,499 
             
Current liabilities             
Trade and other payables   31    78,353   36,701 
Employee benefits   28    5,005   5,517 
Loans and borrowings   32    21,379   17,950 
Other current liabilities       56   0 
Current tax liabilities       185   199 
Total current liabilities       104,978   60,367 
             
Total liabilities       229,103   175,866 
             
Total equity and liabilities       243,965   208,942 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

     Year ended 31 December  
  Notes   2020   2019  

   

     in € thousands  
Loss for the year       (15,500)   (48,769)
Income tax gain (expense)       215   (460)
Depreciation, amortization and impairment       9,358   17,274 
Net finance costs   13    10,505   28,728 
Profit from sale of the right-of-use asset through sublease       0   (1,348)
Share based payments       957   929 
Changes in provisions, employee benefit obligations       (461)   (2,501)
Changes in working capital       7,511   1,340 
Interest paid       (1,965)   (3,215)
Interest received       83   0 
Income tax paid       (349)   (1,213)
Income tax received       121   0 
Net cash flow from operating activities       10,475   (9,235)
             
Purchases of property and equipment   19    (135)   (806)
Purchases of and development expenditures for intangible assets   18    (3,601)   (4,576)
Net proceeds (payments) from investments and financial assets       0   (123)
Decrease/(Increase) in other non-current financial assets       427   0 
Net cash flow from investing activities       (3,309)   (5,505)
             
Proceeds from non-current loans and borrowings   29    3,105   18,000 
Proceeds from current loans and borrowings       9,530   5,684 
Repayment of current loans and borrowings       (4,409)   (6,901)
Payment of lease liabilities

      (2,094)   (1,887)
Net cash flow from financing activities       6,132   14,896 
             
Net changes in cash and cash equivalent       13,298   156 
             
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period       12,876   12,276 
Net foreign exchange difference       (202)   444 
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents       13,298   156 
             
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period       25,972   12,876 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
 

in € thousands  Notes   
Issued
capital   

Share 
premium   

Treasury 
shares   

Other
capital 
reserves   

Legal 
reserve   

Retained
earnings   

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve   

Total
equity  

01 Jan 2020       36,187   250,389   (4,745)   30,489   7,980   (286,969)   (255)   33,076 
Loss for the year       0   0   0   0   647   (16,147)   0   (15,500)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
for the period, net of tax   27.6    0   0   0   0   0   0   (6,456)   (6,456)
Total comprehensive income
(loss) for the year       0   0   0   0   647   (16,147)   (6,456)   (21,956)
                                     

Share-based payments   27.3    0   0   0   957   0   0   0   957 
Exercise of options to shares   27.3    32   (256)   224   0   0   0   0   0 
Conversion of convertible bond      1,000   1,815   (30)   0   0   0   0   2,785 
Transactions with shareholders       1,032   1,559   194   957   0   0   0   3,742 



                                     
31 Dec 2020       37,219   251,948   (4,551)   31,446   8,627   (303,116)   (6,711)   14,862 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
 

in € thousands  Notes   
Issued
capital   

Share 
premium   

Treasury 
shares   

Other 
capital 
reserves   

Legal 
reserve   

Retained
earnings   

Foreign
currency 

translation 
reserve   

Total
equity  

31 Dec 2018       11,453   184,812   (4,745)   25,313   7,272   (237,416)   (2,247)   (15,558)
Effect of adopting new accounting
standards, net of tax      0   0   0   0   0   (76)   0   (76)
01 Jan 2019       11,453   184,812   (4,745)   25,313   7,272   (237,492)   (2,247)   (15,634)
Loss for the year       0   0   0   0   708   (49,477)   0   (48,769)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
for the period, net of tax       0   0   0   0   0   0   1,992   1,992 
Total comprehensive income
(loss) for the year       0   0   0   0   708   (49,477)   1,992   (46,777)
                                     
Share-based payments   27.3    0   0   0   929   0   0   0   929 
Issue of shares upon conversion of
convertible bonds       24,734   65,577   0   4,247   0   0   0   94,558 
Transactions with shareholders       24,734   65,577   0   5,176   0   0   0   95,487 
                                     
31 Dec 2019       36,187   250,389   (4,745)   30,489   7,980   (286,969)   (255)   33,076 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020

 
1 GENERAL

 
1.1 Reporting entity
 
Fyber N.V. (hereinafter referred to as “Company” or together with its subsidiaries as “Fyber” or “Group”) is a company with limited liability (naamloze vennootschap)
incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands. The Company is a global provider for advertising technology.
 
The Company is incorporated in Amsterdam, The Netherlands and is registered with the Dutch Chamber of Commerce under the number 54747805. The Company’s head-office
is located at Wallstraße 9-13, 10179 Berlin, Germany. The Company's shares are traded on the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘FBEN’.
 
Fyber empowers app developers and digital publishers to monetize their content through advanced technologies, innovative ad formats and data-driven decision making. Fyber
provides an open-access platform for both publisher’s and digital advertisers with a global reach.
 
Fyber has offices in Berlin, Tel Aviv, San Francisco, New York, London, Beijing and Seoul and employs more than 220 people.
 
On 22 March 2021, the Company announced that Austin-based Digital Turbine Inc., “Digital Turbine” (Nasdaq: APPS), a global on-device mobile platform company, has
signed definitive agreements with the Company’s major shareholders to acquire a more than 95% shareholding in the Company at a total valuation of up to $600 million net of
the Company’s debt for 100% of Fyber’s share. Please refer to note 41.5 for further details.
 
1.2 Financial reporting period
 
These financial statements cover the year 2020, which ended at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2020.
 
1.3 Going concern
 
As of December 31, 2020, the Group reported a loss of EUR 15,500 thousand which negatively impacting equity amounted to €14,862 thousand (December 31, 2019: €33,076
thousand). While both operating and total cash flow were positive as such cash and cash equivalents amounted to €25,972 thousand (December 31, 2019: €12,876 thousand), the
consolidated working capital showed a deficit of €11,007 thousand (December 31, 2019: €12,540 thousand).
 
At the balance sheet date, the Group had shareholder loans with Tennor Holding B.V. amounting to €32,000 thousand (December 31, 2019: €30,000) and accrued interest of
€4,788 thousand (December 31, 2019: €2,237 thousand) which mature in June 2022. After the balance sheet date an amount of €15,000 thousand has been extended to
June 2023. Please refer to note 41 subsequent events.
 
Furthermore, the Group has revolving credit facilities from banks amounting to €25,821 thousand of which €21,379 thousand had been drawn (December 31, 2019: €17,949
thousand). These credit facilities are due within the next 12 months following the reporting date and considered current financing.
 
Finally the Group has a convertible loan amounting to €73.4 million as per December 31, 2020 with a maturity date of July 2022; the company is dependent on the successful
conversion of the loans into equity since this is one of the conditions in order to finalize the acquisition by Digital Turbine.
 
Based on the current cash flow projections and liquidity analysis, the Group is not able to repay these credit facilities within the next 12 months if needed. Therefore, the Group
depends on the willingness of the banks, bondholders and the shareholder to prolong its financing.
 
These events and conditions relating to the company’s financing position indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cause significant doubt about the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020

 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

 
2.1. Statement of compliance
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB)..
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal
course of business. Please refer to note 1.3 for further details.
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been authorized for issue by the Supervisory Board as of 5 August 2021.
 
2.2. Basis of measurement
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for share-based payments, that have been measured at fair value. Please refer to note
28.3 for further details.
 
2.3. Functional and presentation currency
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro which is also the functional currency of the Company and unless otherwise indicated all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand ..
 
3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by
the Group.
 
3.1. Basis of consolidation
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Fyber N.V. and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020. Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled,
directly or indirectly, by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if it has:
 

▪ Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)
▪ Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
▪ The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

 
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over the investee, including:
 

▪ The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
▪ Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
▪ The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights

 
The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a
subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date it ceases to control
the subsidiary.
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances,
transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full on consolidation.
 
Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the equity holders of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if that results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020

 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity while
any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value.
 
For all of its subsidiaries Fyber N.V. has control over all voting rights as of 31 December 2020.
 
3.1.1 Business combinations and goodwill
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at fair
value at acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in other
operating expenses. When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not
remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the
scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other
contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.



 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, as the fair value of the consideration being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-
controlling interest over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in the income statement immediately.
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
 
3.1.2 Foreign currencies
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions of foreign operations are translated into Euro at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Any goodwill arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognized in other
comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is reclassified to profit or
loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal The exchange rates of foreign currencies to Euro, that are significant for the Group, were subject to the following changes:
 
  Exchange rate at the balance sheet  
per €  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
US Dollar   1.23   1.12 
 
3.1.3 Transactions and balances
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot rates of exchange at the date the transaction first
qualifies for recognition.
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.
 

11

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020

 
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of
the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognized in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to
profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in OCI.
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in OCI or profit or loss are also recognized in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).
 
3.2. Revenue recognition, costs and interest income and expenses
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of services is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. The service revenue from delivering advertising services is recognized when the service is rendered. This usually occurs
when the ad impression was generated which is the ad is fetched from its source and served on the user’s device. Depending on the requirements of the specific campaign,
further requirements might need to be fulfilled such as the device user has clicked on the ad, downloaded specific content, provided personal data etc. Revenue is measured at
the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for providing services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third
parties and excluding taxes or duties.
 
Other income is recognized when the future inflow of economic benefits from the transaction can be measured reliably and was received by the Company during the reporting
period.
 
Operating expenses are recognized either when the corresponding goods were received or services were rendered.
 
Interest income and expense are recorded using the effective interest method with exception of borrowing costs capitalized according to IAS 23. In 2020 and 2019 there were no
qualifying assets so that all interest expenses were recorded in profit and loss. Income and expenses are not offset unless gains and losses arising from a group of similar
transactions. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions and revaluations are presented together in net finance costs.
 
3.3. Personnel costs
 
3.3.1. Short-term personnel costs
 
Short-term personnel costs are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
 
3.3.2. Stock option program
 
The fair value of stock options that are granted to employees and which are settled in shares in Fyber N.V. is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in capital
reserves. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service conditions are expected to be met. The expenses are
recorded over the vesting period, the time in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the right to acquire shares in the parent company at a fixed price. The fair
value of the options is not re-measured but changes in the employees’ structure during the vesting period are recognized in profit or loss. A forfeiture of options after they have
vested has no effect on the Group accounts. Please refer to note 27.3 for further details.
 
3.3.3. Defined contribution plan
 
The Group periodically contributes to pension plans operated by governmental or private companies and recognizes related expenses while the employees are employed.
 
3.4. Income tax



 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in OCI.
 
3.4.1. Current income tax
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax
laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and
establishes provisions where appropriate.
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Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
 
3.4.2. Deferred income tax
 
Deferred taxes are recognized to account for the future tax effects of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements, and for tax loss carry-forwards, using the liability method. Deferred taxes are measured on the basis of the tax laws already enacted or
substantially enacted for those fiscal years in which it is probable that the differences will reverse or the tax loss carry-forwards can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for temporary differences or tax loss carry-forwards only when the ability to utilize them in the near future appears to be probable. Deferred taxes are also recognized
for temporary differences resulting from the fair value measurement of assets and liabilities obtained through business combinations. Deferred taxes relating to goodwill are
recognized for temporary differences only when the goodwill can be utilized for tax purposes.
 
Deferred tax is not recognized for: – temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; – temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates, and joint arrangements to the extent that the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and – taxable temporary differences
arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and deferred taxes
related to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
 
3.5. Intangible assets
 
Other intangible assets, including customer relationships and trademarks, that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets that have a determinable useful life are amortized over their expected useful lives using the straight-line
method, starting from the time when they become available for use by the Group. Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Development
expenditure is capitalized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the
Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Please refer to note 3.7. for further details
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Borrowing costs which are directly associated with the development of software that takes a substantial period of time (qualifying assets) are included in the cost of production
until the assets in question are ready for their intended use. The details of amortization are as follows:
 

  
Useful life

in years  
Amortization
method used  

Internally generated
or acquired

Software  3 - 5  Straight line  Acquired
Customer contracts  Contract period  Straight line  Acquired
Digital content  3  Straight line  Acquired
Development costs  6  Straight line  Acquired
Development costs  3  Straight line  Internally generated
Others  3 - 6  Straight line  Acquired
Goodwill  -  Impairment test  Acquired
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life such as goodwill are not amortized. At the reporting date, the use of these assets by the Group is not limited by any economic or
legal restrictions. An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from de-
recognition (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets) are recognized in the income statement.
 
3.6. Property and equipment
 
Property and equipment are measured at cost and are depreciated over their expected useful lives using the straight-line method. For purposes of depreciation, the following
useful lives are applied:
 
  Useful life in years  Depreciation method used
Leaseholds improvements  2 - 3  Straight line
Other operational and office equipment  3 - 13  Straight line
Right of use assets (leases)  3-10  Straight line
 
Property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gains or losses on the disposal of
property and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets) are recognized in the income statement.
 
3.6.1. Leases
 
The Group has adopted IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. As a result, the Group as a lessee has
recognized right-of-use assets representing its rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease payments. Please refer to note



3.11. for further details.
 
3.7. Impairment of non-financial assets
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset
is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available.
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If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized but will be tested
for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that they may be impaired. A previously recognized impairment loss for assets excluding goodwill will be reversed
when the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset again. The reversal is limited to the amount which would have resulted if previous impairment losses had
not been recognized. A recognized impairment loss in goodwill will not be reversed. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.
 
Please refer to note 17 for detailed information on estimates and key assumptions used to determine the necessity of impairment, including a sensitivity analysis. Please refer to
note 18 for further details about estimates and assumptions applied.
 
3.8. Inventories
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in, first-out principle.
 
3.9. Financial instruments
 
3.9.1. Recognition and initial measurement
 
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is trade receivables without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Trade receivables without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.
 
3.9.2. Classification and subsequent measurement
 
Financial assets
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortized cost; FVOCI – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.
 
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: – it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and – its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
 
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
 
Financial assets – Business model assessment
 
The Group assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
 

▪ The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected
cash outflows, or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

 
▪ how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

 
▪ the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model);

 
▪ how those risks are managed; – how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the

contractual cash flows collected; and
 

▪ the frequency, volume, and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales, and expectations about future sales activity.
 
Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing
recognition of the assets.
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Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
 
Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
 
Financial assets at FVTPL- These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or
loss.
 
Financial assets at amortized cost- These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses, and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or loss.
 
Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement gains and losses
 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative,
or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are
recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss.
 
3.9.3. Derecognition
 
Financial assets
 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash
flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
 
The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognized.
 
Financial liabilities
 
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or canceled or expire. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its
terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at
fair value.
 
On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred, or
liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss.
 
3.9.4. Compound financial instruments
 
Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes denominated in euro that can be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the holder, when
the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does not vary with changes in fair value.
 
The liability component of compound financial instruments is initially recognized at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The
equity component is initially recognized as the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial
instrument is not remeasured. Interest related to the financial liability is recognized in profit or loss. On conversion at maturity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and
no gain or loss is recognized.
 
3.9.5. Loans under the Paycheck Protection Program
 
Loans under the Paycheck Protection Program were ultimately granted by the US federal government as part of the CARES Act and obtained through the subsidiaries Fyber Inc
and Inneractive USA, Inc. Until there is reasonable assurance that these loans will be forgiven, the Group is accounting for them as liabilities. In case of forgiveness, the loans
are recognized as government grants in other operating income.
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3.10. Cash and cash equivalents
 
The cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position consist of cash in banks and cash on hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as defined above.
 
3.11. Leases
 
3.11.1. Definition of a lease
 
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease according to IFRS 16. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
 
The Group presents right-of-use assets in property and equipment, the same line item as it would present underlying assets of the same nature that it owns. For the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets please refer to note 20.
 
The Group presents lease liabilities in ‘other non-current liabilities’ as well as ‘trade and other payables’ in the statement of financial position.
 
3.11.2. Recognition of a lease
 
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property, it is presented in investment property and subsequently measured at fair value.
 



The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its Group entities’ incremental borrowing rate as
the discount rate.
 
The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate,
changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain or be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain to be exercised.
 
Management as applied judgment to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal options. The assessment of whether the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognized.
 
3.11.3. Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
 
The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group
recognizes the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 
3.12. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
 
3.12.1. New and amended standards and interpretations
 
The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The Group has not early
adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
 
3.12.2. Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business
 
The amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations clarifies that to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that, together, significantly contribute to the ability to create output. Furthermore, it clarifies that a business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, but may impact future periods should the Group
enter into any business combinations.
 
3.12.3. Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
 
The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement provide a number of reliefs, which apply to all hedging relationships that are
directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is affected if the reform gives rise to uncertainty about the timing and/or amount of benchmark-
based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument. These amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as it does not have any
interest rate hedge relationships.
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3.12.4. Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material
 
The amendments provide a new definition of material that states, “information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific
reporting entity.” The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with other information,
in the context of the financial statements. A misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. These
amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of, nor is there expected to be any future impact to the Group.
 
3.12.5. Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
 
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16
guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to
assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting
from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification. The amendment applies to
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted. This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
 
3.13. Accounting estimates and assumptions
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the presentation of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts and presentation of income and expenses during the period.
Management based its assumptions and estimates on past experience and on other factors including the prevailing economic environment available when the consolidated
financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising
beyond the control of the Group. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. Information regarding the
carrying amounts determined with the use of estimates can be found in the comments on the specific line items and are explained in the respective notes to which they relate to.
 
3.13.1. Going concern
 
Management’s judgement is applied in the consideration whether there are material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
 
3.13.2. Measurement of fair values
 
A number of accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of the fair value of the Group for financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. To determine the
fair value of assets and liabilities, the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. If such inputs are not available, the management defines appropriate valuation
methods and input parameters. Based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques, the fair values are classified in different levels in the fair value hierarchy:
 

▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 



▪ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices).

 
▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. The Group recognizes reclassifications in different
levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period in which the change occurred.
 
3.13.3. Revenue recognition
 
The Group has a data-driven revenue stream. The recognition of the revenue is done at one point in time, which happens primarily by the end of a month when invoices for the
services provided during the month are issued and unbilled receivables are accrued. Generally, the service of the Company is billed based on transactions tracked by Fyber with
no significant estimation involved. In some cases, the company is charging its services based on the tracking of external third party tracking service provider or the customer’s
data. Revenues in this respect are accrued every month based on estimates taking into account Fyber’s own tracking and historical variances to the relevant tracking. However,
these external reports are normally received by the Company in the following month, verified with Fyber’s own tracking and revenue amended where necessary.
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3.13.4. Intangible assets other than goodwill
 
Management uses assumptions to assess the technical and commercial feasibility and the future economic benefit of internally generated software and digital content. Further
estimates were applied by measuring the related development costs and determining the useful lives. In case that an impairment test might be required in accordance with the
accounting policies, management uses significant assumptions on which the recoverable amount is based. Please refer to note 18 for further details about estimates and
assumptions applied.
 
3.13.5. Taxes on income
 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range
of international business relationships and the long-term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results and the
assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to tax income and expense already recorded.
 
The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The
amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
responsible tax authority.
 
Such differences in interpretation may arise for a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective domicile of the Group companies. Management
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred taxes that can be recognized and with respect to changes in tax laws and the amount and timing of future taxable
income. These judgments and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may
impact the amount of deferred taxes recognized and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognized. Under such circumstances, the carrying
amount of recognized deferred taxes may require adjustment.
 
Please refer to notes 14 and 25 for further details about estimates and assumptions applied.
 
3.13.6. Impairment of goodwill
 
The Group tests annually if goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policies. Please refer to note 17 for detailed information on estimates and
key assumptions used to determine the necessity of impairment, including a sensitivity analysis.
 
3.13.7. Measurement of receivables and necessary impairments
 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and rating).
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. An event of default is generally considered when a financial asset is 90 days overdue The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults by debtors, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every
reporting date, the historically observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed.
 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative
of customer’s actual default in the future.
 
ECL on receivables from advertisers are determined taking into account a possible right of withholding from publisher payouts in case of a default of the advertiser which
usually applies. In such cases, ECL is solely calculated on the company’s margin. The information about the ECL on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 3.9 and
note 22.
 
3.13.8. Measurement of compound financial instruments
 
The equity component of any convertible loan is determined by deducting the fair value of the financial liability from the fair value of the instrument as a whole. Management
judgement is required to assess market interest rate for comparable financial instruments. Management assumes that the comparable, non-convertible loan would bear an
interest of 7.8%. This assumption is the same as in the prior year.
 
Please refer to the note 29 for further details about estimates and assumptions applied.
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3.14. Standards issued but not yet effective
 
A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2020 and earlier adoption is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted new or
amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of the standards are expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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4 COMPANIES INCLUDED IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
 
The scope of consolidation, including Fyber N.V. as parent Company, comprises fourteen fully consolidated companies. The subsidiaries and participation are as follows:
 
  Country of incorporation  % equity interest  
Fyber N.V.  The Netherlands     
       
Falk Realtime Ltd.2  UK   100.00 
       
Fyber GmbH1  Germany   100.00 
       
Fyber Inc.  USA   100.00 
       
Fyber Media GmbH1  Germany   100.00 
       
Fyber RTB GmbH1  Germany   100.00 
       
Heyzap Inc.  USA   100.00 
       
Fyber Monetization Ltd.  Israel   100.00 
       
Fyber Digital UK Ltd.  UK   100.00 
       
Inneractive USA Inc.  USA   100.00 
       
RNTS Germany Holding GmbH  Germany   100.00 
       
RNTS Media Deutschland GmbH  Germany   100.00 
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5 REVENUE
 
IFRS 15 Revenue model recognition includes five steps for analyzing transactions to determine when to recognize revenue and at what amount: (1) Identifying the contract with
customers. (2) Identifying distinct performance obligations in the contract. (3) Determining the transaction price. (4) Allocating the transaction price to distinct performance
obligations. (5) Recognizing revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied.
 
The Group earns its revenue from providing user acquisition services by using technological tools and developments. The Company's business is based on optimizing real time
trading of digital advertising between buyers and sellers. The revenue consists of different pricing schemes such as Cost per Mil Impression (CPM), performance-based metrics
that include Cost per Click (CPC) and Cost per Action (CPA) options. Revenue from advertising services is recognized by multiplying an agreed amount per Mil
Impression/click/ action with the volumes of these units delivered. The Group acts as the principle in these arrangements and reports revenue earned and costs incurred on a
gross basis. Please refer to notes 3.2, 34 and 35 for further details.
 
6 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
 
In 2020 no other operating income has occurred (2019: The Group realized other operating income of €1,348 thousand from the sublease of parts of its office in Berlin).
 
7 EXPENSES BY NATURE
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Revenue share to third parties   164,385   78,711 
Personnel costs and related costs         

Fixed salaries   13,756   15,287 
Variable salaries (bonus)   4,040   2,561 
Stock based plan   1,482   932 

Social security contribution   1,942   1,906 

Other benefits   4,394   4,189 
Total of personnel costs and related costs   25,614   24,875 
Platform hosting costs and related costs   7,572   9,525 
Depreciation and amortization   8,981   13,432 
Professional services, consulting, and licenses   3,369   5,786 
Rent & utilities   1,946   2,413 
Marketing expenses   389   1,498 
Other   1,835   739 



Total cost of sales, selling and distribution, administrative and research and development expenses   214,091   136,979 
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8 COST OF SALES
 
The Company's cost of sales consists primarily of payments made to suppliers of ad inventory (commonly referred to as publishers) in a transaction that was settled through one
of the Company’s various ad tech platforms. Other cost of sales corresponds to other expenses for operating these platforms such as hosting costs, maintenance expense of
hardware, amortization of self-developed and acquired software, personnel costs, and facilities-related costs. Personnel costs include salaries, bonuses, stock-based
compensation, and employee benefit costs and are primarily attributable to personnel in the Company's network operations Group who support the Company's platform. The
Company capitalizes costs associated with software that is developed or obtained for internal use and amortizes the costs associated with its revenue-producing platform in cost
of sales over their estimated useful lives. Amortization also includes expenses associated with acquired intangible assets from the Company's business acquisitions that are
related to technology and development functions, customer contracts and brands.
 
in € thousands  2020   2019  
Revenue share to third parties   164,385   78,711 
Platform hosting costs and related costs   7,572   9,525 
Depreciation and amortization   7,119   11,043 
Personnel costs and related costs   200   241 
Total cost of sales   179,276   99,520 
 
9 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES
 
The Company's technology and development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including stock-based compensation and bonuses, professional services associated
with the ongoing development and maintenance of the Company's solution and, to a lesser extent, facilities-related costs, depreciation of equipment and amortization of acquired
software licenses. Technology and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for costs that are associated with the development of internally used software that
qualifies for capitalization. The Company allocates overhead such as rent and occupancy charges based on headcount.
 
in € thousands  2020   2019  
Personnel costs and related costs   8,887   8,052 
Professional services, consulting, and licenses   1,703   2,725 
Depreciation and amortization   778   972 
Rent and utilities   665   780 
Other   67   246 
Total research and development   12,100   12,775 
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10 SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES
 
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, employee benefits costs and commission costs for the
Company’s sales and marketing personnel. Sales and marketing expenses also include costs for market development programs, advertising, promotional and other marketing
activities, and allocated overhead. The Company allocates overhead such as rent and occupancy charges based on headcount.
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in € thousands  2020   2019  
Personnel and related costs   11,187   11,662 
Publisher integration expenses   1,469   0 
Depreciation and amortization   669   793 
Rent and utilities   577   666 
Professional services, consulting, and licenses   540   1,027 
Marketing expenses   358   1,401 
Other   170   361 
Total sales and marketing expenses   14,970   15,910 
 
11 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
 
The Company’s general and administrative expenses relate to overhead functions such executive management, finance, legal, compliance, investor relations and human
resources and consist primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses, stock-based compensation, as well as professional service fees for accounting, tax and legal
advice and bad debt expense. The Company allocates overhead such as rent and occupancy charges based on headcount.
 
in € thousands  2020   2019  
Personnel and related costs   5,340   4,920 
Professional services, consulting, and licenses   1,126   1,472 
Rent and utilities   704   1,310 
Depreciation and amortization   415   624 
Investors relations   31   97 
Other   129   351 
Total general and administrative expenses   7,745   8,774 



 
12 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
 
In 2020, other operating expenses amounting to €461 thousand (2019: €3,843 thousand) comprised of €375 thousand impairment of assets, €59 thousand of other expenses with
respect to unrealized investments and a loss of €27 thousand with respect to the disposal of some minor Berlin office space. In 2019, all expenses related to impairments of the
following items: self-developed software of €1,712 thousand, technology and customer contracts acquired through business combinations of €1,019 thousand and right-of-use
asset of €1,112 thousand. Please refer to notes 3.7 and 18, respectively, for further details.
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13 NET FINANCE COSTS
 
The major components of net finance costs are as follows:
 
in € thousands  2020   2019  
Other interest income   (83)   (72)
Finance income   (83)   (72)
Interest expense from Convertible Bonds   5,858   7,677 
Loss on convertible loan conversion   0   23,373 
Loss (gain) on convertible loan restructuring   0   (6,713)
Interest on shareholder loans   2,552   1,678 
Bank interest and bank fees   1,561   1,889 
Interest on lease liabilities   389   458 
Other finance expenses, net   22   70 
Currency effect, net   206   368 
Finance costs   10,588   28,800 
Net finance costs   10,505   28,728 
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14 TAXES ON INCOME

 
The major components of income tax expense are as follows:
 
in € thousands  2020   2019  
Breakdown of income tax reported in profit or loss         
Current income tax charge   215   503 
Deferred tax         

Relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences   0   (963)
Income tax charged to profit or loss   215   (460)
 
Reconciliation of accounting loss to income tax expense / gain:
 
  2020   2019  
Accounting loss before tax   (15,285)   (49,229)
Applicable tax rate   30.175%  30.175%
Income tax at applicable tax rate   (4,612)   (14,855)
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes         

Interest barrier   1,223   6,425 
Stock option expenses   293   420 
Convertible bonds   931   1,275 

Self-developed assets   27   1,513 
Amortization of intangible assets   1,302   2,108 
Different tax regime   (73)   1,365 
Used tax loss carryforward   (313)   (325)
Unrecognized deferred tax assets in fiscal year   1,552   1,891 
Others   (115)   (277)
Income tax (gain) expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income

  215   (460)
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Since the acquisition of Fyber GmbH in 2014 the majority of revenues is generated through entities in Germany. Therefore, the tax rate applied in Germany is deemed to be
valid as Group tax rate from 2014 onwards. The tax rate of 30.175% contains corporate income tax of 15.825%, including solidarity surcharge, as well as trade tax of 14.35%.
 
Reconciliation of income tax gain and expense from the origination and reversal of temporary differences and tax loss carried forward:
 
  2020   2019  
Changes in deferred tax assets recognized through P&L   (373)   (1,516)
Changes in deferred tax liabilities recognized through P&L   373   2,479 
Income tax (gain) expense from the origination and reversal of temporary differences and tax loss carried forward   0   963 



 
Please refer to note 25 for further details.
 
15 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
An income tax effect in relation to the exchange differences on currency translation was not recognized. In case that taxable temporary differences may arise in this respect, the
parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of such temporary differences and it is probable that those differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
 
16 EARNING PER SHARE

 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income of the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of Fyber N.V. by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income of the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of Fyber N.V. by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the
potentially dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares. The basic and diluted earnings per share are:
 
  Unit  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Loss attributable to shareholders of Fyber N.V.  in € thousands   (15,500)   (48,769)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic  in pcs. thousands   364,251   274,519 
Weighted average shares outstanding, diluted  in pcs. thousands   364,251   274,519 
Basic loss per share  in €   (0.04)   (0.18)
Diluted loss per share  in €   (0.04)   (0.18)
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17 GOODWILL

 
In 2020, the goodwill recognized through various acquisitions in prior years, developed as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2019   Currency effect   31 Dec 2020  
Fyber FairBid   134,932   (6,282)   128,650 
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2018   Currency effect   31 Dec 2019  
Fyber FairBid   133,321   1,611   134,932 
 
The Group’s goodwill resulted from the acquisition of the four platform businesses between 2014 and 2016. Goodwill is tested on the level of cash generating units whenever a
triggering event occurs but at least once per year. Currently, Fyber FairBid is Fyber’s only one cash generating unit which is also represents the only operating segment.
 
While 2020 was a challenging year for economies worldwide due to COVID-19 counter measures such as business closures and stay-at-home orders, the digital advertising
space proved to be resilient and recovered swiftly from short-term impacts recorded in the second quarter of the year.
 
Fyber’s core market, the mobile in-app advertising market, contributed significantly to the growth of the digital ad space even in this year of crisis. In addition, Fyber was an
early adopter of working from home policies for all global offices, restricting business travel, and adhering to all guidelines of local governments and public health authorities.
As a technology company delivering digital products and services we were less affected in our operations by the changes and had all tools and systems already available to work
remotely for an extended period of time. As such, no unplanned investments were necessary to transition our operations to match the new requirements. As such, Fyber was able
to deliver on the product and business roadmap for 2020 as planned. Thus the Company experienced strong growth during the year 2020, despite the challenges and
uncertainties brought to the global economy by COVID-19.
 
In 2020, Apple announced that the new operating system iOS14 launched in the first fourth quarter of 2020 will include a change in user data handling for the purpose of
tracking of all sorts starting from the first six months of 2021. As the timing and impact of Apple’s anticipated privacy changes remain uncertain as of the publication date, this
is accounted for in the current guidance only based on estimations and expectations. Fyber continues its product and business initiatives to minimize any impact stemming from
these policy changes.
 
The yearly impairment test was made based on the recoverable amount being the higher of the value in use and the fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value less cost of
disposal was determined using possible selling negotiations into account and the value in use was based on cash flow projections that were derived from financial budgets
approved by senior management covering a period of five years.
 
The key assumptions on the compound average growth rates (CAGR) and the post-tax discount rates of the cash flow projections are as follows:
 
  Fyber FairBid  
CAGR on revenue during the forecast period   25.90%
     
CAGR on the free cash flow beyond the forecasted period   2.00%
     
CAGR on total expenses during the forecast period   9.89%
     
Pre-tax discount rate   15.55%
 
The business plan which is underlying the impairment test assumes that this revenue development in the core business continues in 2021 and slows down over the forecast
period.
 
The free cash flow is planned for a period of 5 years. This plan takes into account that historically high growth rates normally slow down over the long term. It is assumed that
due to a further shift of advertising budgets to mobile advertising, there will be a significant growth in this space, which Fyber will be able to service substantially within the
infrastructure and cost base already built today. Based on these assumptions, the recoverable values of the cash generating unit exceed its carrying amounts including goodwill.
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The calculation of the value in use is most sensitive to the growth rate of revenue and total expenses as well as the pre-tax discount rate applied. Therefore, sensitivity tests were
performed by varying the following assumptions, holding all other variables constant:
 
  Fyber FairBid
10% reduction on revenue CAGR during the forecast period  No
   
Increase of pre-tax discount rate by 1% point  No
 
None of the sensitivity tests resulted in an impairment need. However, should the significant revenue growth assumption underlying the impairment test for Fyber Platform not
be achieved, an impairment would be required in the future.
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18 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 
Other intangible assets developed as follows:
 

in € thousands  
Customer
contracts   

Internally
generated

developments   
Acquired

developments   Others   Total  
Acquisition or production cost                     
1 Jan 2019   21,980   20,305   17,288   5,091   64,664 
Additions   0   4,560   0   16   4,576 
Currency effects   405   40   213   43   701 
31 Dec 2019   22,385   24,905   17,501   5,150   69,941 
Additions   0   3,601   0   0   3,601 
Retirement   0   (1,542)   0   (6)   (1,548)
Currency effects   (1,578)   (948)   (833)   (167)   (3,526)
31 Dec 2020   20,807   26,016   16,668   4,977   68,468 
                     
Amortization and impairments                     
1 Jan 2019   15,008   13,033   9,548   4,757   42,346 
Additions   4,438   3,664   2,839   147   11,088 
Impairments   84   1,712   935   0   2,731 
Currency effects   243   (4)   93   42   374 
31 Dec 2019   19,773   18,405   13,415   4,946   56,539 
Additions   2,326   2,769   1,979   28   7,102 
Retirement   0   (1,542)   0   (6)   (1,548)
Currency effects   (1,351)   (290)   (549)   (159)   (2,349)
31 Dec 2020   20,748   19,342   14,845   4,809   59,744 
                     
Carrying amounts                     
31 Dec 2019   2,612   6,500   4,086   204   13,402 
31 Dec 2020   59   6,674   1,823   168   8,724 
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Amortization of other intangible assets is recognized in cost of sales.
 
Others include mainly the Fyber brand (Fyber, Heyzap and Inneractive) initially recognized through business combination, as well as acquired software licenses. Management
observes whether there are any indications, either from external sources (i.e. current market trends, market capitalization of the Group) or from internal sources of information
(i.e. internal reports to economical and technical performance, impairment test of GGU) that an asset or a Group of assets might be impaired. The remaining amortization
periods for other intangible assets that are material to the financial statements are as follows:
 

  
Carrying amount

in € thousands   
Remaining amortization period

in years  
Customer contracts   59    0.5  
Internally generated developments   6,674    0.5-3  
Acquired developments   1,823    1.5  
 
During the financial year 2019, the Group further integrated the different platforms which finally resulted in the launch of FairBid 2.0. Following a successful release in
June 2019, a sunset of the legacy platforms was initiated. Fyber RTB was shut down in September 2019, the AppBounty app was suspended in December 2019 and the old
Fyber Mediation as well as the Heyzap platform was officially closed in March 2020. Management considered such extensive technological shift to FairBid 2.0 a triggering
event for any technology carried in intangible assets, irrespective of whether self-developed or acquired through business combinations. In 2020 no such impairment was
recognized.
 
Following a respective review including exploration of a possible sale of assets, resulted in the following impairments:
 
  2019  

in € thousands  Fyber RTB   Heyzap   FairBid 1.0   
Fyber platform

incl. AppBounty   
Other 
tools   Total  

Internally generated developments   0   0   756   704   252   1,712 
Acquired developments and
customer contracts   392   627   0   0   0   1,019 



Total   392   627   756   704   252   2,731 
 
In case that self-developed and acquired technology is not included in the current or future technology stack of Fyber, it has been fully impaired based on the respective project
which usually refers to a distinct tool or feature.
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19 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 
The following table shows the development of property and equipment:
 

in € thousands  
Other operational &

office equipment   Fixtures   Right of use assets   Total  
Acquisition or production cost                 
1 Jan 2019   3,645   774   0   4,419 
Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial application of IFRS 16   0   0   4,515   4,515 
Additions   509   297   13,145   13,951 
Sale of the right-of-use asset through sub lease   0   0   (2,707)   (2,707)
Remeasurement of right-of-use asset due to contract modification   0   0   22   22 
Disposal   (137)   (1)   (6,743)   (6,881)
Currency effects   28   10   218   256 
31 Dec 2019   4,045   1,080   8,450   13,575 
Additions   135   0   0   135 
Remeasurement of right-of-use asset due to contract modification /
Linkage to consumer price index   0   0   2,640   2,640 
Disposal   (106)   0   (52)   (158)
Currency effects   (103)   (39)   (647)   (789)
31 Dec 2020   3,971   1,041   10,391   15,403 
Amortization and impairments                 
1 Jan 2019   3,035   212   0   3,247 
Additions   328   115   2,110   2,553 
Sale of the right-of-use asset through sub lease   0   0   (136)   (136)
Disposal   (101)   (1)   (1,626)   (1,728)
Impairment   0   0   1,112   1,112 
Currency effects   7   3   (2)   8 
31 Dec 2019   3,269   329   1,458   5,056 
Additions   232   140   1,639   2,011 
Disposal   (93)   0   (9)   (102)
Currency effects   (127)   (26)   (184)   (337)
31 Dec 2020   3,281   443   2,904   6,628 
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Carrying amounts                 
31 Dec 2019   776   751   6,992   8,519 
31 Dec 2020   690   598   7,487   8,775 
 
Fixtures relate to the Group’s offices in Berlin, Tel Aviv and San Francisco. Right of use assets, related to offices lease agreements other than short term.
 
20 NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

 
The non-current financial assets break down as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Leasehold deposits   779   853 
Non-current net investment in leases   3,066   3,419 
Non-current financial assets   3,845   4,272 
 
Leasehold deposits are cash deposits provided as security to the landlord. The deposits are not interest-bearing and will be refunded upon the termination of the respective
contract.
 
The non-current net investment in leases relates to the sublease of the Berlin office.
 

21 INVENTORIES
 
In 2019 the amount of €82 thousand related to gift cards from third parties like Amazon, Sony PlayStation or Microsoft X-Box that were used as rewards in user acquisition
campaigns. With the closure of such business operated through Advertile Mobile GmbH at the end of 2019, the Group sold and reclassified any remaining vouchers to other
receivables.
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 
Trade and other receivables break down as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Trade receivables   63,878   28,201 
VAT receivables   647   806 
Prepayments   313   367 
Others   145   157 
Trade and other receivables   64,983   29,531 
 
The trade receivables of €63,878 thousand are net of an allowance for impairment losses of €856 thousand (2019: €1,326 thousand), which had developed as follows:
 

  1 Jan   
Charge for the

year   Utilized   
Unused amounts

reversed   31 Dec  
2020   1,326   2,235   (307)   (2,398)   856 
2019   1,811   2,371   (515)   (2,341)   1,326 
 
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the aging of trade receivables is as follows:
 

  Total   Current   

Allowance for
impairment

losses   Past due but not impaired  

           < 30 days   
30 - 60 

days   
61 - 90 

days   
91- 180 

days   
> 180 
days  

2020   63,878   52,030   (856)   9,802   403   67   47   2,385 
2019   28,201   20,550   (1,326)   5,539   1,219   706   572   941 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 - 90 day-terms. Please refer to note 39.2. for further information.
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23 OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
 
Other current financial assets break down as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Indemnification claim in respect to Fyber SAR (short term)   1,171   2,967 
Current net investment in leases   355   364 
Deposit for credit card and rent   301   567 
Other current financial assets   1,827   3,898 
 
The indemnification claim relates to reimbursement of Fyber for any payments that have to be made in connection with the stock appreciation rights that have been triggered by
the acquisition of Fyber GmbH. For further details on share appreciation rights, please refer to note 28.
 
The current net investment in leases relates to the sublease of the Berlin office.
 

24 PREPAYMENTS
 
Prepayments relate primarily to integrations bonus for publishers of €292 thousand (2019: €518 thousand), licenses of €375 thousand (2019: €435 thousand) and others of €522
thousand (2019: €477 thousand).
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25 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
 
The deferred tax assets (DTA) developed during the reporting period as follows:
 

in € thousands  

Employee 
benefit 
liability   

Tax loss
carry-

forward   
Office 
leases   Other   Total   

Thereof 
through 

P&L  
1 Jan 2019   0   0   0   0   0   (5,747)
Offsetting with deferred liabilities as
of 1 Jan 2019   160   5,440   0   161   5,761   0 
Employee benefits   (2)   0   0   0   (2)   (2)
Decrease of tax loss carried forward to
be utilized   0   (1,492)   0   0   (1,492)   (1,492)
Other   0   0   0   (22)   (22)   (22)
Offsetting with deferred tax liabilities   (158)   (3,948)   0   (139)   (4,245)   0 
31 Dec 2019   0   0   0   0   0   (1,516)
Offsetting with deferred liabilities as
of 1 Jan 2020   158   3,948   0   139   4,245   0 
Employee benefits   153   0   0   0   153   153 



Decrease of tax loss carried forward to
be utilized   0   (784)   0   0   (784)   (784)
Office leases   0   0   198   0   198   198 
Other   0   0   0   60   60   60 
Offsetting with deferred tax liabilities       (3,164)   (198)   (199)   (3,872)   0 
31 Dec 2020   0   0   0   0   0   (373)
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The deferred tax liabilities (DTL) developed during the reporting period as follows:
 

in € thousands  
Intangible

assets   

Equity
component
convertible

bonds   Office leases   Total   
Thereof 

through P&L  
1 Jan 2019   964   0   0   964   6,478 
Offsetting with deferred tax assets as of 1 Jan 2019   3,253   2,508   0   5,761   0 
Increase of self-generated intangible assets   (1,544)   0   0   (1,544)   (1,544)
Issue of convertible bonds   0   (936)   0   (936)   (936)
Offsetting with deferred tax assets   (2,673)   (1,572)   0   (4,245)   0 
31 Dec 2019   0   0   0   0   (2,480)
Offsetting with deferred assets as of 1 Jan 2020   2,673   1,572   0   4,245   0 
Increase of self-generated intangible assets   (566)   0   0   (566)   (566)
Issue of convertible bonds   0   27   0   27   27 
Office leases   0   0   166   166   166 
Offsetting with deferred tax assets   (2,107)   (1,599)   (166)   (3,872)   0 
31 Dec 2020   0   0   0   0   373 
 
The Group recognizes deferred tax assets when deductible temporary differences are realizable. There is uncertainty regarding the realization of deductible temporary
differences in the future for all Group entities. Therefore, the Group recognizes deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards for those
entities for the time being only to the extent that respective deferred tax liabilities are recognized and which have the similar expectation to be realized as deferred tax assets. For
this purpose, only deferred tax liabilities were qualified which relate to the same tax entity and which have the similar expectation to be realized than the deferred tax assets. The
Group did not recognize deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards on the amount of €31,609 thousand.
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26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following items, all freely available:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Cash at banks   25,958   12,805 
Cash in hand   14   71 
Cash and cash equivalents   25,972   12,876 
 

27 EQUITY
 
The components and changes in consolidated equity are summarized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
 
27.1. Issued capital and share premium
 
The issued capital of Fyber N.V. amounting to €37,219 thousand is divided into 372,189,292 common shares, with a nominal value of €0.10 each and developed like follows:
 
in pcs  2020   2019  
1 Jan   361,866,419   114,533,333 
Issue of shares upon conversion of convertible bond   9,999,999   247,333,086 
Issue of shares upon exercise of stock options   322,874   0 
31 Dec   372,189,292   361,866,419 
 
The issued capital as of 31 December 2020 consisted entirely of fully paid-up ordinary shares. At the reporting date the shares were publicly traded. The Company is listed on
the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange with simultaneous admission to the sub-segment of the regulated market with additional post-admission obligations
(Prime Standard).
 
The authorized capital amounts to €120,000 thousand and is divided into 1,200,000,000 shares, with a nominal value of €0.10 each.
 
During 2020 a total of 322,874 shares had been issued for employees/former employees who had exercised their stock options plan into shares. In 2019 no shares were issued
for such exercised options.
 
27.2. Treasury shares
 
As of 31 December 2020, there are 1,860,904 outstanding treasury shares (2019: 1,966,667):
 
In 2016 2,000,000 shares had been acquired in the process of the divestment of Big Star Global by Fyber.
 
In 2017, €100 thousand of the convertible loan were converted into 33,333 shares. The shares for this transaction were transferred out of the treasury shares available to the



Company.
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In 2020, a total of 105,763 shares from the treasury shares were delivered to employees/former employees who had exercised their stock option plan into shares (in 2019 no
treasury shares were used for such exercised options).
 
Out of the outstanding treasury shares, 686,193 shares had been tendered to the Company at a price per share of €1.80 and has been recorded as a liability and presented within
other payables (see note 31).
 
27.3. Other capital reserves
 
Other capital reserves in 2020 correspond to €31,446 thousand (2019: €30,489 thousand).
 
The bond conversion in 2019 resulted in an increase of the equity component on the amount of €4,247 thousand due to the change in the conversion price from the original
€3.00 to €0.30 per share.
 
In addition to that, initially introduced in 2015, the Company is running a stock option program implemented for senior management and employees of the Group. During the
year 2020, 14.7 million options were granted and 5.5 million were forfeited due to the employees leaving (in 2019, 43.2 million and 13.9 million, respectively). As of
December 31, 2020, a total of 51.2 million options were outstanding to employees, including 5.8 million granted to the management board, with a weighted average strike price
of €0.23 (2019: 42.7 million outstanding option with a weighted average of €0.23). Of the outstanding options, 26.0 million were exercisable (2019: 17.0 million).
 
Reconciliation of outstanding share options:
 

  
Number of 

options 2020   

Weighted- 
average 

exercise price 2020   
Number of

options 2019   
Weighted- average
exercise price 2019  

Outstanding at 1 Jan   42,725,139   0.23   13,727,500   1.95 
Expired   (2,000)   1.50   (8,000)   1.50 
Forfeited during the year   (5,414,359)   0.26   (13,950,611)   1.77 
Exercised during the year   (750,416)   0.23   (278,750)   0.21 
Granted during the year   14,677,469   0.34   43,235,000   0.23 
Outstanding at 31 Dec   51,235,833   0.26   42,725,139   0.23 
Exercisable at 31 Dec   26,007,986   0.23   17,048,453   0.22 
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     Exercised but outstanding shares  

in pcs  1 Jan   Exercises   
Shares being

withheld   

Settlement
through newly
issued shares   

Settlement
through 
treasury 

shares   31 Dec  
2020   89,413   750,416   (405,094)   (322,874)   (105,763)   6,098 
2019   0   278,750   (189,337)   0   0   89,413 
 
The outstanding shares at December 31, 2020 and 2019 related to exercises in the fourth quarter of each year, being delivered to employees in the succeeding first quarter of
2021 and 2020, respectively.
 
The total fair value of the outstanding options has been determined using the Black Scholes model amounting to €3,846 thousand (2019: €2,404 thousand). New grants have
been evaluated based on the following assumptions:
 
  Assumptions  
  2020   2019  
Share price   €0.21-€0.45    €0.21-€0.40  
Dividend yield   0% p.a.    0% p.a.  
Term of the option   2.875 years    2.875 years  
Risk free interest rate   (0.58%) - (0.74%) p.a.    (0.53%) - (0.73%) p.a.  
Historical volatility   67% - 70%    62%  
Fluctuation   20% p.a.    20% p.a.  
 
The options were granted to employees in 4 tranches in 2020, depending on when the employees have started. The term of the options was assumed considering a maximum
exercise period of five years following the start date as well as the expected exercise behavior. As risk-free rate, ECB AAA yields adequate to the relevant term were used.
 
As the options are settled in shares, the value of the options is locked and not subject to revaluation and is accrued over the vesting period and recognized in personnel costs.
Concerning IFRS 2.20 the fluctuation rate is adjusted quarterly and in consequence the number of shares exercisable and the expenses recognized are adjusted.
 
For 2020, the Group recognized personnel costs in connection with the stock option plan in an amount of €957 thousand (2019: €929 thousand). Due to the specific vesting
conditions of the stock option plan, expenses are incurred over-proportionately in the first year after the grant with decreasing amounts to be recognized in the following future
periods.
 
27.4. Legal reserve capitalized self-developed intangible assets
 
As of 31 December 2020, the legal reserve contained an amount of €8,627 thousand (2019: €7,980 thousand) for self-developed intangible assets.



 
27.5. Retained earnings
 
The retained earnings/deficit includes the income of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements plus first adoption of new accounting standards recognized
directly in retained earnings.
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27.6. Foreign currency translation reserve
 
The foreign currency translation results from the translation of the accounts of the foreign subsidiaries from local currencies, which are the functional currencies of these
subsidiaries, into Euro which is the functional currency of the parent Company and the reporting currency of the Group.
 
in € thousands  Total  
1 Jan 2019   (2,247)
Translation of goodwill   1,611 
Translation of intangible assets identified at acquisitions in excess to other net assets   282 
Additional currency effects arising from the translation of subsidiaries   99 
Foreign currency translation reserve 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2019   1,992 
31 Dec 2019   (255)
Translation of goodwill   (6,282)
Translation of intangible assets identified at acquisitions in excess to other net assets   (530)
Additional currency effects arising from the translation of subsidiaries   356 
Foreign currency translation reserve 1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020   (6,456)
31 Dec 2020   (6,711)
 
28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

 
The employee benefits liabilities relate to the remaining obligation from the share appreciation rights (SARs) assumed by Fyber through the 2014 acquisition of Fyber GmbH
amounting to €1,171 thousand as of the balance sheet date (2019: €2,967 thousand).
 
For further details on share appreciation rights, please refer to note 24.
 
The disbursement schedule on the employee benefit liability is as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Maturity in 1 year   5,005   5,517 
Maturity in 2-5 years   233   238 
Maturity in 5-10 years   0   0 
Maturity in 10 years and more   0   0 
Total employee benefits liabilities   5,238   5,755 
 
The current employee benefits liabilities consist of the following:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Unsettled from Fyber SAR   1,134   2,961 
Unpaid variable compensation   2,453   1,513 
Vacation accrual   1,346   1,039 
Other   72   4 
Short-term employee benefits liabilities   5,005   5,517 
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29 NON-CURRENT LOANS AND BORROWINGS
 
Non-current loans and borrowings developed during the reporting period as follows:
 
  2020   2019  

  
Convertible

Bond   

Paycheck
Protection
Program   

Share-
holder loans   Total   

Convertible
Bond   

Share-holder
loans   Total  

1 Jan   70,489   0   32,236   102,725   141,587   12,559   154,146 
Loan disbursement   0   1,105   2000   3,105   0   18,000   18,000 
Bond conversion   (2,930)   0   0   (2,930)   (72,036)   0   (72,036)
Amortization of discount   5,860   7   2,552   8,419   7,677   1,677   9,354 
Restructuring   0   0   0   0   (6,739)   0   (6,739)
Currency effects   0   (111)   0   (111)   0   0   0 
31 Dec   73,419   1,001   36,788   111,208   70,489   32,236   102,725 
 
Each convertible bond has a nominal value of € 100 thousand, bears nominal interest of 3.5% p.a., and matures in July 2022. The effective interest rate of the bond, considering
the option value and the transaction costs was determined to be 7.96%. As of 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the liability component of the convertible bonds
amounts to €73,419 thousand (2019: €70,489 thousand). After the reporting date, additional 537 bonds have been converted. On 15 April 2021, the company called for an early
redemption to redeem all the outstanding bonds including accrued interest on 17 May 2021. For more information regarding the convertible bonds please refer to notes, 41.1 and
41.2.
 



Between the years 2018 and 2020, the Company received five individual loans from Tennor Holding B.V. A nominal amount of €8,000 thousand and €4,000 thousand in 2018
and of €3,000 thousand and €15,000 thousand in 2019 and additional €2,000 thousand in 2020. All loans bear interest of 8% p.a. and were assigned to Meridian Capital
International Fund in February 2021. Loans amounting to € 30,000 thousand mature in June 2022 and the remaining € 2,000 thousand will become due in March 2023. Please
refer to note 41.3 for further information.
 
As part of the COVID 19 measurements, the US entities, Fyber Inc. and Inneractive USA, Inc. each obtained a loan out of the Paycheck Protective Program (“PPP loan”) of the
US federal government. Such loans were designed to provide a direct incentive for small businesses to keep their workers on payroll. The two loans, received in April and
May 2020, respectively, amounting to $1,230 thousand as of 31 December 2020. The loans carried interest of 1% p.a. to be paid along with the loan principal in April and
May 2022. At the beginning of 2021, both loans have been forgiven completely. Please refer to note 44.4 for further information.
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30 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
 
The other non-current liabilities break down as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Heyzap earn-out due after 1 year   3,460   3,797 
Lease liabilities   9,224   8,739 
Other non-current liabilities   12,684   12,536 
 
The Heyzap earn-out relates to the outstanding contingent consideration from the acquisition of Heyzap Inc. in 2016. The current portion of the earn-outs is carried in trade and
other payables (note 32). As of the balance sheet date, Fyber has not come to a final agreement with the sellers of Heyzap Inc. with respect to the valuation and timing of the
earn-out. The liability is valued based on the expected outcome of the negotiations.
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31 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
 
The trade and other payables break down as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Trade payables   65,209   23,006 
Lease liabilities   1,946   2,346 
Inneractive earn-out due within 1 year   0   358 
Accruals   3,925   2,760 
Heyzap earn-out due within 1 year   2,810   3,084 
Liabilities from the purchase of treasury shares   1,237   1,237 
Social security   154   276 
Others   3,072   3,634 
Trade and other payables   78,353   36,701 
 
Trade payables related to the outstanding amount the Group owe to its publishers
 
The liability relating to the Inneractive earn-out relates to outstanding retention payments that the Group agreed to employees in the course the acquisition of Inneractive Ltd. in
2016 was fully paid during the financial year 2020.
 
Accruals relates to services that have been received but not yet invoiced as of the reporting date as well as amounts accrued for the audit of the financial statements and the
preparation of tax returns.
 
The Heyzap earn-out relates to the current portion of the outstanding contingent consideration from the acquisition. Please refer to note 30 for further details.
 
As of the reporting date, the Group carried liabilities resulting from the purchase of treasury shares amounting to €1,237 thousand (see note 27.2.).
 
32 CURRENT LOANS AND BORROWINGS
 
As of 31 December 2020, short-term borrowings amount to €21,379 thousand (2019: €17,950 thousand) and consist of three revolving credit facilities from BillFront obtained
through Fyber GmbH and from Bank Leumi and Discount Bank obtained through Fyber Monetization Ltd.
 
In 2020, Fyber GmbH prolonged a credit line of €7,500 thousand working capital facility from BillFront to finance the operating business, with an interest rate of 11.0% p.a.,
maturity date is on 10 September 2021. As of the reporting date €3,227 thousand have been withdrawn (31 December 2019: €4,491 thousand).
 
In November 2019, Fyber Monetization Ltd. as borrower entered into an $15,000 thousand revolving credit line agreement with Bank Leumi as lender until end of
December 2020 and to reduce the maximum amount of the Leumi credit line from $15,000 thousand to $13,500 and finally to $10,000 thousand, following a gradual reduction
by June 2020. In November 2020 Fyber has extended Bank Leumi credit line to $12,500 thousand. The loan bears an interest rate of 5.8% + LIBOR (London Interbank offered
rate), Maturity date is on 30 December 2021.
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As of the reporting date the Leumi credit line was entirely drawn (31 December 2019: $15,000 thousand).
 



On 12 July 2020, Fyber Monetization Ltd. as a borrower entered into an $5,000 thousand revolving credit line agreement with an additional Israeli bank, named Bank Discount
as lender. The loan bears an interest rate of 5.8% + LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate). Maturity date of the discount bank loan is on 15 November 2021.
 
On 15 November 2020 bank discount has increased the credit facility to $10,000 thousand (by additional $5,000 thousands),
 
As of the date of this report, Discount bank credit line was 98% used, and is standing on $9,792 thousand as of the end of December 2020.
 
Loan facility covenants:
 
While the BillFront credit line does not impose any covenants, Leumi and Discount loans, both have similar covenants as follows:
 
Category  Covenant
Revenue  Negative deviation of 20% from budget in one quarter or negative deviation of 15% from budget in 2 consecutive quarters
EBITDA  Accumulated positive EBITDA in the quarters during the period of Q1 2021-Q4 2021
Cash balance  Cash will be not lower than 20% of the withdrawn credit line
 
As of the balance sheet date, all covenants had been met.
 
33 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 
The consolidated statement of cash flows was prepared using the indirect method for presentation of operating activities.
 
Liabilities arising from financing activities developed as follows:
 
        Non-cash changes     

in € thousands  
1 Jan 
2020   Cash flows   

Restructuring of convertible 
bonds, bond conversion & 

amortization of discount, net 
effect   

Foreign exchange 
movement   

31 Dec 
2020  

Non-current loans and borrowings   102,725   3,105   5,489   (111)   111,208 
Current loans and borrowings   17,950   5,121   0   (1,692)   21,379 
Total liabilities from financing activities   120,675   8,226   5,489   (1,803)   132,587 
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        Non-cash changes     

in € thousands  
1 Jan
2019   Cash flows   

Restructuring of convertible 
bonds & amortization of 

discount, net effect   
Foreign exchange 

movement   
31 Dec 

2019  
Non-current loans and borrowings   154,146   18,000   (69,421)   0   102,725 
Current loans and borrowings   18,824   (1,217)   0   343   17,950 
Total liabilities from financing activities   172,970   16,783   (69,421)   343   120,675 
 
The Company recognized a total cash outflow as lessee amounting to €2,481 thousand in 2020 (2019: €2,352)
 
34 OPERATING SEGMENTS
 
The Group’s operating activities are divided into segments which are defined by management as components of the Group that has discrete financial information available and
whose results are regularly reviewed by CODM for purposes of performance assessment and resource allocation. Currently, the company maintains one operating segment.
 

  Types of products and services
Fyber FairBid

 
Open access platform for advertisers and publishers for the holistic trading of digital ads of all the relevant formats, including
programmatic trading and mediation services, as well as advanced publisher tools.

 
The financial performance for the years ended 31 December 2020 and the reference year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:
 
  2020   2019  
in € thousands  Revenue   Revenue  
Fyber FairBid   209,772   118,973 
 
Revenue and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) are the key performance indicators that management are reviewing on a regular basis when
assessing performance of the operating segments.
 
Reconciliation from the amounts in the statement of financial position to the total amounts of all reportable segments was not prepared since the information of the reportable
segments completely match with the amounts shown in the financial statements.
 
In 2020, the Group did not recognize any impairment losses (2019: €3,843 thousand).
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35 GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
 
Breakdown of revenue according to customers’ location by operating segment:
 
  2020   2019  



in € thousands  Revenue   Revenue  
United states   126,866   77,929 
Europe, Middle east and Africa   63,557   30,219 
Asia-Pacific   18,138   8,896 
Rest of the world   1,211   1,929 
Total   209,772   118,973 
 
Breakdown of main relevant assets according to customers’ location by operating segment:
 
  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  

in € thousands  
Intangible

assets   
Property and
equipment   Total   

Intangible
assets   

Property and
equipment   Total  

Germany   66,512   3,696   70,208   67,022   4,159   71,181 
Israel   48,569   2,275   50,844   56,617   2,357   58,974 
United states   22,293   2,804   25,097   24,695   1,996   26,691 
United Kingdom   0   0   0   0   7   7 
Total   137,374   8,775   146,149   148,334   8,519   156,853 
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36 MAJOR CUSTOMER’S INFORMATION
 
The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions and performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial conditions. The Group provides services
only for creditworthy clients and the receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.
 
The breakdown of the top three customers by revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:
 

in € thousands  Revenue   
% revenue from
Group’s revenue  

Liftoff Mobile, Inc   33,032   15.75%
Moloco, Inc.   13,148   6.27%
The Trade Desk Inc   12,754   6.07%
Total revenue for 3 top clients   58,934   28.09%
 
37 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
 
Capital includes equity attributable to shareholders of the parent.
 
As of the reporting date, equity ratio was as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Equity attributable to shareholders of Fyber N.V.   14,862   33,076 
Total assets   243,965   208,942 
Equity ratio   6.1%  15.8%
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains an appropriate capital structure to support its current business and future growth and
therefore maximize shareholders value.
 
38 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
 
The Group is exposed to various financial risks which arise out of its business activities. Main risks identified include financial market risks such as currency and interest rate
risks, as well as liquidity risks and credit risks. The Group manages these risks in accordance with its risk strategy to mitigate any negative effects on the financial performance
and to secure the financial position of the Group.
 
38.1. Financial market risks
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as foreign exchange rates and
interest rates.
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38.1.1. Foreign currency risk
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s
reporting currency is Euro. The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks in several ways, particularly with respect to transactions in foreign currencies and foreign exchange
translation effects, arising mainly from the relative value of the Euro compared to the value of the US dollars ($). Due to the international nature of the Group’s business, the
Group currently has foreign sales and accounts receivable denominated in currencies other than the Euro. In addition, the Group purchases advertising in local currencies and
incurs a portion of its operating expenses in other currencies than Euro. The Group faces exposure to adverse movements in currency exchange rates, which may cause its
revenue and operating results to differ materially from expectations. The Group’s operating results could be negatively impacted depending on the amount of revenue or
operating expenses that are denominated in foreign currencies.
 
As exchange rates vary, revenue, operating expenses and other operating results, when translated, may differ materially from expectations. In addition, the Group’s revenue and
operating results are subject to fluctuation if the mix of US and foreign currency denominated transactions or expenses changes in the future because the Group does not
currently hedge its foreign currency exposure. Management is constantly reviewing the situation and a currency hedging will be considered in the future by the Group.
 



As of the balance sheet date, the Group has the following exposure to currency risks:
 
  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
in € thousands  EUR   GBP   ILS   USD   Total   EUR   GBP   ILS   USD   Total  
Other non-current financial assets  3,593   0   0   252   3,845   3,948   0   324   0   4,272 
Trade and other receivables   1,087   15   394   63,487   64,983   1,291   86   274   27,880   29,531 
Other current financial assets   1,566   122   2   137   1,827   3,483   134   2   279   3,898 
Cash and cash equivalents   402   194   991   24,385   25,972   1,752   122   904   10,098   12,876 
Total financial assets   6,648   331   1,387   88,261   96,627   10,474   342   1,504   38,257   50,577 
 
  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
in € thousands  EUR   GBP   ILS   USD   Total   EUR   GBP   ILS   USD   Total  
Non-current employee benefits   0   0   233   0   233   0   0   238   0   238 
Non-current loans and
borrowings   110,207   0   0   1,001   111,208   102,725   0   0   0   102,725 
Other non-current liabilities   8,400   0   1,631   2,653   12,684   9,636   0   1,279   1,621   12,536 
Trade and other payables   9,240   305   1,801   67,006   78,352   11,683   295   1,471   23,252   36,701 
Current employee benefits   1,787   -7   2,087   1,138   5,005   4,016   -8   912   597   5,517 
Current loans and borrowing   3,227   0   0   18,152   21,379   4,491   0   0   13,459   17,950 
Total financial liabilities   132,861   298   5,752   89,950   228,861   132,551   287   3,900   38,929   175,667 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rate of $, with all other variables held constant.
 

  Change in $ rate   
Maximum/

minimum level   Effect on loss before tax   Effect on equity  
        in € thousands   in € thousands  

2020   +5.00%  1.48   (82)   (3,232)
   -5.00%  1.08   91   3,573 
2019   +5.00%  1.18   323   (3,037)
   -5.00%  0.47   (357)   3,357 
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38.1.2. Interest rate risk
 
As of the reporting date, the Group is funded through borrowings which bears interest based on fixed and floating interest rates as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Non-current loans and borrowings         

Fixed interest rate   111,208   102,725 
Total loans and borrowings   111,208   102,725 
         
Current loans and borrowings         

Fixed interest rate   3,227   4,491 
Float interest rate   18,152   13,459 

Total current loans and borrowings   21,379   17,950 
 
Interest risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
holds a revolving credit facility in the amount of €21,379 thousand, €18,152 thousand with a floating interest rate linked to the LIBOR rate, while the rest in with fix interest
rate. Therefore, interest rate charges in the future will have an impact on cash flows. Please refer to note 33. for further details on the loans.
 

  
Change in interest rate

in basis points   
Effect on loss after tax

in € thousands  
2020   +10   18 
   (10)   (18)
2019   +10   13 
   (10)   (13)
 
As the Company does not have financial instruments measured at fair value, changes in the interest rate will have no impact on equity.
 
38.2. Credit risk
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The carrying amount of trade
and other receivables as well as from cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. No other financial asset carries a significant exposure to
credit risk.
 
The Group places its cash with creditworthy financial institutions and performs ongoing credit evaluation of its customers’ financial conditions.
 
The Group provides services only for creditworthy clients and the receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. Please refer to the notes 3.9. for further details about
the recognition and measurement of expected credit losses.
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence
the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which customers operate.
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The Group has significant exposure to one specific customer which also leads to a major concentration of credit risk. As of the balance sheet date, €18,567 thousand of trade
receivables related to the top three customers accounts, Please refer to note 36 for further details.
 
Aging analysis of non-derivative financial instruments as of 31 December 2020 is as follows:
 
           Past due  

in € thousands  Total   
Impairment loss

allowance   Current   < 30 days   30 - 60 days   61 - 90 days   > 90 days  
Non-current financial assets   3,845   0   3,845   0   0   0   0 
Trade and other receivables   64,983   (856)   53,135   9,802   403   67   2,432 
Other current financial assets   1,827   0   1,827   0   0   0   0 
Cash and cash equivalents   25,972   0   25,972   0   0   0   0 
Non-derivative financial
instruments   96,627   (856)   84,779   9,802   403   67   2,432 
 
Aging analysis of non-derivative financial instruments as of 31 December 2019 is as follows:
 
           Past due  

in € thousands  Total   
Impairment 

loss allowance   Current   < 30 days   30 - 60 days   61 - 90 days   > 90 days  
Non-current financial assets   4,272   0   4,272   0   0   0   0 
Trade and other receivables   29,531   (1,326)   21,880   5,539   1,219   706   1,513 
Other current financial assets   3,898   0   3,898   0   0   0   0 
Cash and cash equivalents   12,876   0   12,876   0   0   0   0 
Non-derivative financial
instruments   50,577   (1,326)   42,926   5,539   1,219   706   1,513 
 
38.3. Liquidity risk
 
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group may not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group establishes short and long-term capital
management plans and analyses and reviews cash flow budgets with actual cash outflows in order to match the maturity of financial liabilities and financial assets. In order to
secure and maintain the liquidity, the Group entered into one additional financing facility with Tennor Holding B.V. amounting to €2,000 thousand drawn in February 2020 and
falling due in March 2023.
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The aggregate maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities outstanding, based on contractual undiscounted payments, as of 31 December 2020 are as follows:
 

in € thousands  Total   
Within
1 year   

1 year to
5 years   > 5 years  

Non-current financial assets   3,845   0   2,145   1,700 
Trade and other receivables   64,983   64,983   0   0 
Other current financial assets   1,827   1,827   0   0 
Cash and cash equivalents   25,972   25,972   0   0 
Financial assets   96,627   92,782   2,145   1,700 
Non-current employee benefits   (233)   0   (233)   0 
Non-current loans and borrowings   (117,548)   0   (117,548)   0 
Other non-current liabilities   (12,684)   0   (10,414)   (2,270)
Trade and other payables   (78,353)   (78,353)   0   0 
Current employee benefits   (5,005)   (5,005)   0   0 
Current loans and borrowings   (21,379)   (21,379)   0   0 
Other current liabilities   (56)   (56)   0   0 
Current tax liabilities   (185)   (185)   0   0 
Financial liabilities   (235,443)   (104,978)   (128,195)   (2,270)
Total net financial liabilities   (138,816)   (12,196)   (126,050)   (570)
 
Long-term borrowings include all interest that have been delayed to the maturity of the bond in July 2022. After the balance sheet date the convertible bond was either exercised
or redeemed and the shareholder loan was assigned and finally repaid, Please refer to note 41 for further details.
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The aggregate maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities outstanding, based on contractual undiscounted payments, as of 31 December 2019 are as follows:
 

in € thousands  Total   
Within
1 year   

1 year to
5 years   > 5 years  

Non-current financial assets   4,272   0   2,113   2,159 
Trade and other receivables   29,531   29,531   0   0 
Other current financial assets   3,898   3,898   0   0 
Cash and cash equivalents   12,876   12,876   0   0 
Financial assets   50,577   46,305   2,113   2,159 
Non-current employee benefits   (238)   0   (238)   0 
Non-current loans and borrowings   (111,538)   0   (111,538)   0 
Other non-current liabilities   (12,536)   0   (9,536)   (3,000)



Trade and other payables   (36,701)   (36,701)   0   0 
Current employee benefits   (5,517)   (5,517)   0   0 
Current loans and borrowings   (17,950)   (17,950)   0   0 
Current tax liabilities   (199)   (199)   0   0 
Financial liabilities   (184,679)   (60,367)   (121,312)   (3,000)
Total net financial liabilities   (134,102)   (14,062)   (119,199)   (841)
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39 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
 
39.1. Categories of financial assets and liabilities
 
The carrying values of financial assets per category are as follows:
 

  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  

in € thousands  Total   
Measured at

amortized costs   Total   
Measured at

amortized costs  
Other non-current financial assets   3,845   3,845   4,272   4,272 
Trade and other receivables   64,983   64,983   29,531   29,531 
Other current financial assets   1,827   1,827   3,898   3,898 
Cash and cash equivalents   25,972   25,972   12,876   12,876 
Total financial assets   96,627   96,627   50,577   50,577 
 
The carrying values of financial liabilities per category are as follows:
 

  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  

in € thousands  Total   
Measured at 

amortized costs   Total   
Measured at

amortized costs  
Non-current employee benefits   233   233   238   238 
Non-current loans and borrowings   111,208   111,208   102,725   102,725 
Other non-current liabilities   12,684   12,684   12,536   12,536 
Trade and other payables   78,352   78,352   36,701   36,701 
Current employee benefits   5,005   5,005   5,517   5,517 
Current loans and borrowing   21,379   21,379   17,950   17,950 
Total financial liabilities   228,861   228,861   175,667   175,667 
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39.2. Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities
 
Except for the convertible bonds, carrying values are reasonable approximations of the respective fair values.
 

 31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
in € thousands  Carrying amount   Fair value   Carrying amount   Fair value  
Non-current loans and borrowings   111,208   70,504   102,725   83,713 
 
The convertible bonds are listed in Frankfurt Stock Exchange under XS1223161651, where the last closing price before 31 December 2020 was set at 45% (68% in 2019) and as
such are classified as level 1.
 
The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities are the same or approximate to their fair value.
 
39.3. Net results by measurement category
 
  1 Jan - 31 Dec 2020  
  Recognized through profit and loss     
     From valuation     
in € thousands  From interest   Currency effect   Revaluation   Impairment loss   Net results  
Financial assets                     

Amortized costs   0   (26)   0   (128)   (154)
Financial liabilities                     

Measured at amortized costs   (8,480)   (349)   0   0   (8,829)
Total   (8,480)   (375)   0   (128)   (8,983)
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  1 Jan - 31 Dec 2019  

  Recognized through profit and loss     
     From valuation     



in € thousands
 

From interest
  

Currency effect
  Revaluation   

Impairment loss
  

Net results
 

Financial assets                     
Amortized costs   0   (31)   0   (350)   (381)
Financial liabilities                     
Measured at amortized costs   (11,699)   (345)   (16,660)   0   (28,704)
Total   (11,699)   (376)   (16,660)   (350)   (29,085)
 
The conversion of the convertible in May 2019 resulted in a finance expense of €23,373 thousand and the restructuring of the remaining convertible bond in October 2019 led to
a finance income amounting to €6,713 thousand.
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40 RELATIONSHIPS WITH RELATED PARTIES
 
40.1. Outstanding balances and transactions
 
The following table provides the balances with related parties as at 31 Dec 2020 and 2019 as well as the total amount of transactions that have been entered with related parties
during 2020 and 2019:
 
  2020  

in € thousands  
Amounts owed by

parties   
Amounts owed to

parties   Sales to parties   
Purchases from

parties  
Key management personnel   0   0   0   3,044 
Shareholder                                       

Tennor Holding B.V.   0   36,788   0   2,552 
Total   0   36,788   0   5,596 
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  2019  

in € thousands  
Amounts owed by

parties   
Amounts owed to

parties   Sales to parties   
Purchases from 

parties  
Key management personnel   0   289   0   1,454 
Shareholder                                 

Tennor Holding B.V.   0   32,236   0   1,677 
Total   0   32,525   0   3,131 
 
As of 31 December 2020, earn-out payments relating to the acquisition of Fyber Monetization Ltd. (formerly Inneractive Ltd.) were paid in full (2019: €289 thousand, of which
€136 thousand, €78 thousand to Dani Sztern, and €75 thousand to Yaron Zaltsman). See note 40.3 for further detail.
 
The purchases from key management personnel consist of compensation of €3,044 thousand (2019: €1,454 thousand).
 
40.2. Compensation for key management personnel
 
Key management personnel include any person that has the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling of the activities of the entities, directly or
indirectly.
 
The Group considers members of either the Management Board or the Supervisory Board of the parent as such key management personnel for which compensation was
recognized as follows:
 
in € thousands  31 Dec 2020   31 Dec 2019  
Share-based payments  579  (115)
Short-term employee benefits  1,258  1,128 
Variable benefits  975  220 
Defined contribution plan  232  221 
Total compensation for key management personnel  3,044  1,454 
 

59

 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020

 
in € thousands  Type  2020   2019  
Management Board         

Ziv Elul1  Share-based payments  287  29 
  Short-term employee benefits  330  342 
  

Variable benefits
 450  133 

  Defined contribution plan  80  83 
  Total  1,147  587 

Daniel Sztern2  Share-based payments  146  (71)
  Short-term employee benefits  276  284 



  Variable benefits  263  77 
  Defined contribution plan  82  69 
  Total  767  359 

Yaron Zaltsman2  Share-based payments  146  (73)
  Short-term employee benefits  276  305 
  Variable benefits  263  10 
  Defined contribution plan  69  69 
  Total  754  311 
Total Management Board    2,668  1,257 
         
Supervisory Board         

Karim Sehnaoui3  Short-term employee benefits  57  50 
Yair Safrai4  Short-term employee benefits  119  76 
Arjun Metre5  Short-term employee benefits  57  46 
Franklin Rios6  Short-term employee benefits  86  25 
Tarek Malak7  Short-term employee benefits  57  0 

Total Supervisory Board    376  197 
Total    3,044  1,454 
 
1 Member since June 15, 2016
2 Member since July 25, 2017
3 Member since October 1, 2017
4 Member since October 1, 2018, chairman since February 21, 2019
5 Member since January 31, 2019
6 Member since July 1, 2019, vice-chairman since January 30, 2020
7 Member since Oct 30, 2019
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The amounts shown in the table above are those recognized as an expense during the reporting period related to key management personnel.
 
In 2020, the annual remuneration of the chairman of the Supervisory Board was €125 thousand (2019: €80 thousand), the annual remuneration for the newly elected vice-
chairman was €90 thousand and that the annual remuneration for all other members of the Supervisory Board was €60 thousand each (2019: €50 thousand). For Q2 2020, the
Supervisory Board agreed to reduce their remuneration by 20% along with the Management and the employees as one measure with respect to the COVID 19 pandemic.
 
40.3. Payments in relation to the acquisition of Inneractive
 
According to the Inneractive purchase agreement and its amendments, several employees, at the Company’s discretion, were entitled to receive certain payments that are related
to the acquisition. Until the reporting date, Mr. Ziv Elul received of total € 5.49 million, Mr. Dani Sztern €0.88 million, and Mr. Yaron Zaltsman €0.08 million, respectively.
 
The Inneractive acquisition agreement included an allocation of retention bonuses to Inneractive employees and management. At the reporting date, all funds were paid in full.
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41 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
41.1. New share issuance in relation to bond conversions
 
Following the reporting period, the Company issued 180.0 million new shares to fulfill convertible bonds conversion requests of 540 bonds. Consequently the new issued
capital as of the date of this report amounts to €55,218,928.60, divided into 552.2 million ordinary shares.
 
41.2. Full amortization of convertible bonds facility following early redemption of outstanding amount
 
On 15 April 2021, the Company initiated the early redemption process for 100% of the outstanding convertible bonds issued by the Company, which had not been converted
into equity previously. At payment in May 2021, this amounted to 187 bonds in the nominal amount of €18,700 thousand and additional €1,795 thousand in interest. With that,
the Company completed the full amortization of bonds.
 
41.3. Assignment of shareholder loans to third party and settlement
 
With effect from 17 February 2021, Tennor assigned the five promissory notes that together made up the shareholder loans, to Meridian Capital International Fund
(“Meridian”). All terms and conditions remain unchanged. Meridian agreed to extend the loans as planned by the Company to June 2022 and March 2023 respectively. The
loans have been fully redeemed upon the closing of the acquisition by Digital Turbine. Please refer to note 41.5 for further details.
 
41.4. Paycheck protective program loan forgiven
 
During March and April 2021 PPP-loans amounting to €1,001 thousand as of 31 December 2020 have been completely forgiven.
 
41.5. Closing of transaction between major shareholders and Digital Turbine
 
On 22 March 2021, the Company announced that Austin-based Digital Turbine Inc., “Digital Turbine” (Nasdaq: APPS), a global on-device mobile platform company, has
signed definitive agreements with the Company’s major shareholders to acquire a more than 95% shareholding in the Company at a total valuation of up to $600 million net of
the Company’s debt for 100% of Fyber’s share. As part of the acquisition of Fyber by Digital Turbine Inc., Digital Turbine announced the closing of the transaction with Tennor
Holding B.V. on 25 May 2021. The customary closing conditions have been met ahead of closing, including obtaining merger clearance in the USA and the full redemption of



all outstanding convertible bonds issued by Fyber. With that, Digital Turbine has obtained control over Fyber pursuant to Section 35 (1) WpÜG and will publish a mandatory
takeover offer to all outstanding shareholders of Fyber in due course. Upon closing, the outstanding loan with Meridian Capital International Fund was redeemed and all
outstanding employee stock options were canceled in return for a cash payment to the employees. Further, Digital Turbine provided Fyber with a working capital facility of
€10,000 thousand.
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Exhibit 99.2

 
DIGITAL TURBINE, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

On May 25, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Digital Turbine, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Digital Turbine Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“DT Media”), and Digital Turbine Luxembourg S.à r.l., a subsidiary of the Company, completed the initial closing of the acquisition of at
least 95% of the outstanding voting shares (the “Majority Fyber Shares”), of Fyber N.V., a public limited liability company registered with the Netherlands Chamber of
Commerce Business Register (“Fyber”), pursuant to a Sale and Purchase Agreement between Tennor Holding B.V., Advert Finance B.V., and Lars Windhorst (collectively, the
“Seller”), the Company, and DT Luxembourg. The Seller transferred and delivered 400,000,000 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to DT Media on the Closing Date, and the
Seller transferred and delivered another 125,805,997 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to DT Media in June-July 2021. The remaining outstanding shares in Fyber (the
“Minority Fyber Shares”) are to the Company’s knowledge widely held by other shareholders of Fyber (the “Minority Fyber Shareholders”).
 
The Company acquired Fyber in exchange for an estimated aggregate consideration of up to $600 million, consisting of (i) $150 million in cash, which was subject to
adjustments for certain items, approximately $124.3 million of which was paid to the Seller on the Closing Date and the remainder of which will be paid to the Minority Fyber
Shareholders for the Minority Fyber Shares pursuant to the tender offer described below, (ii) 3,216,935 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company issued to the
Seller at the closing of the acquisition, (iii) 2,540,364 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company issued to the Seller in June-July 2021, (iv) an additional 59,289
newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company to be issued to the Seller but subject to a true-up reduction based on increased transaction costs associated with the
staggered delivery of the Majority Fyber Shares to the Company, and (v) contingent upon Fyber’s net revenues (determined in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards), being equal or higher than $100 million for the 12-month earn-out period ending on March 31, 2022, as determined in the manner set forth in the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, a certain number of shares of Company common stock, which will be newly-issued to the Seller at the end of the earn-out period, and under certain
circumstances, an amount of cash, which value of such shares and cash in aggregate will not exceed $50 million (subject to set-off against certain potential indemnification
claims against the Seller). The Company does not anticipate that Fyber will meet the net revenue goal and, thus, estimates that no contingent consideration will be paid.
 
Pursuant to certain German law on public takeovers, follow the closing, the Company launched a public tender offer to the Minority Fyber Shareholders to acquire from them
the Minority Fyber Shares. The tender offer is subject to certain minimum price rules under German law. The timing and the conditions of the tender offer, including the
consideration of EUR 0.84 per share offered to the Minority Fyber Shareholders in connection with the tender offer, was determined by the Company pursuant to the applicable
Dutch and German takeover laws. The Company anticipates completing the tender offer during the second fiscal quarter 2022.

 
Fyber is a leading mobile advertising monetization platform empowering global app developers to optimize profitability through quality advertising.  Fyber’s proprietary
technology platform and expertise in mediation, real-time bidding, advanced analytics tools, and video combine to deliver publishers and advertisers a highly valuable app
monetization solution.
 
The Company does not anticipate that Fyber will meet the net revenue goal and, thus, estimates that no contingent consideration will be paid. The following unaudited pro
forma condensed combined balance sheet of the Company as of March 31, 2021, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations of the Company
for the year ended March 31, 2021 are based on the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and Fyber using the acquisition method of accounting. In
addition, the unaudited pro forma financial statements include further the financial statements of AdColony Holding AS (“AdColony”) using the acquisition method of
accounting for that acquisition which is further described in the Form 8-K that was filed on May 4, 2021 and the Form 8-K/A that was filed on July 14, 2021.
 
The transaction accounting adjustments for the acquisition consist of those necessary to account for the acquisitions of both Fyber and AdColony. The unaudited pro forma
condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 gives effect to the acquisitions as if they had occurred on March 31, 2021 and includes all adjustments necessary to
reflect the application of the acquisition accounting to the transactions. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended March 31,
2021 give effect to the acquisitions as if they had occurred on April 1, 2020 and include all adjustments necessary to reflect the accounting for the transactions.
 

 

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for informational purposes only, in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, and are not
intended to represent or to be indicative of the income or financial position that the Company would have reported had the acquisitions been completed as of the dates set forth
in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements due to various factors. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet does not purport to
represent the future financial position of the Company and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations does not purport to represent the future results
of operations of the Company. Given the comparable fiscal periods differ by one quarter, as permitted by Regulation S-X, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined
statements of operations combine Fyber and AdColony’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet combines Fyber’s and AdColony’s condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 with the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements reflect management’s preliminary estimates of the fair value of purchase consideration and the fair values of
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisitions, with the remaining estimated purchase consideration recorded as goodwill. Independent
valuation specialists have conducted an analysis to assist management of the Company in determining the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
Company’s management is responsible for these third-party valuations and appraisals. Since these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been
prepared based on preliminary estimates of the fair value of purchase consideration and fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the actual amounts to be reported
in future filings may differ materially from the amounts used in the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.
 
These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements should be read in conjunction with the following:
 
• The accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;
 
• The Company’s historical audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2021;
 
• The Current Report on Form 8-K/A of the Company to which these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are attached as an exhibit;
 
• Fyber’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, included in Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form
8-K/A of the Company; and
 
• AdColony’s audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, included in Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on
Form 8-K/A of the Company filed on July 14, 2021.
 

 

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Balance Sheet



As of March 31, 2021
(in thousands)

 

  Digital Turbine, Inc.   
AdColony Holding

AS   

Fyber N.V.
Historical As

Translated (Refer   
Transaction
Accounting   Note  

Other
Transaction
Accounting   Note  Pro Forma  

  Historical   Historical   to Note 6)   Adjustments   Ref  Adjustments   Ref  Combined  
ASSETS                             
Current assets                             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 30,778  $ 15,400  $ 31,946  $ (224,336)  3(a)  $ 234,130  5(a)  $ 87,918 
Restricted cash   340   -   -               340 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   61,985   72,900    79,929               214,814 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,282   3,211    3,710               11,203 
Total current assets   97,385   91,511    115,585   (224,336)     234,130     314,275 
Property and equipment, net   13,050   1,909    10,793         (9,209)  5(e)   16,543 
Right-of-use assets   3,495   2,088    -   4,000  3(k)   9,209  5(e)   18,792 
Intangible assets, net   53,300   2,382    10,731   439,170  3(b)         505,583 
Goodwill   80,176   182,156    158,240   132,999  3(c)         553,571 
Other non-current assets   -   900    4,729               5,629 
Deferred tax assets   12,963   25,854    -   (38,817)  3(h)         - 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 260,369  $ 306,800  $  300,078  $ 313,016    $ 234,130    $ 1,414,393 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY                             
Current liabilities                             
Accounts and other payables  $ 34,953  $ 26,685  $  96,377              $ 158,015 
Accrued license fees and revenue share   46,196   -    -         37,040  5(d)   83,236 
Accrued compensation   9,817   -    6,156               15,973 
Lease liabilities   -   2,500    -               2,500 
Contract liabilities   -   700    -               700 
Short-term debt, net of issuance costs   14,557   135,313    26,296   (135,313)  3(d)         40,853 
Other current liabilities   5,626   40,814    296   309,973  3(e)   (37,040)  5(d)   319,669 
Total current liabilities   111,149   206,012    129,125   174,660     -     620,946 
Lease liabilities   -   601    -               601 
Other non-current liabilities   4,108   1,087    15,888               21,083 
Deferred tax liabilities, net   -   -   -   18,142  3(h)         18,142 
Long-term debt, net of issuance costs   -   -    136,786   (136,786)  3(d)   234,130  5(a)   234,130 
Total liabilities   115,257   207,700    281,799   56,016     234,130     894,902 
Stockholders' equity                             
Preferred stock       -    -               - 
Series A convertible preferred stock   100   -    -               100 
Common stock   10   -    45,779   (45,779)  3(f)         10 
Equity   -   99,100    -   (99,100)  3(f)         - 
Additional paid-in capital   373,310   -    309,896   49,336  3(f),3(i)         732,542 
Treasury stock   (71)   -    (5,598)    5,598  3(f)         (71)
Other capital reserves   -   -   49,290   (49,290)  3(f)         - 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (903)   -   (8,255)   8,255  3(f)         (903)
Accumulated deficit   (227,334)   -    (372,833)   365,913  3(f),3(g)        (234,254)
Non-controlling interest   -   -   -   22,067  3(j)   -     22,067 
Total stockholders' equity   145,112   99,100    18,279   257,000     -     519,491 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  $ 260,369  $ 306,800  $ 300,078  $ 313,016    $ 234,130    $ 1,414,393 

 

 

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended March 31, 2021
(in thousands)

 
       Fyber N.V.         Other        
        Historical As   Transaction      Transaction        
  Digital Turbine, Inc.   Ad Colony Holding AS  Translated (Refer to   Accounting   Note   Accounting   Note   Pro Forma  
  Historical   Historical   Note 6)   Adjustments   Ref   Adjustments   Ref   Combined  

Net revenues  $ 313,579  $ 211,000  $ 240,539  $ (173)   4(b)                        $ 764,945 
Costs of revenues and operating
expenses                                 
License fees and revenue share   178,649   141,500   205,570   (173)   4(b)           525,546 
Other direct costs of revenues   2,358       529                   2,887 
Product development   20,119   -   13,875           33,332   5(c)   67,326 
Sales and marketing   19,304   -   17,166           37,178   5(c)   73,648 
General and administrative   33,940   -   8,881   31,761   4(c)   12,055   5(c)   86,637 
Payroll and related expenses,
excluding stock-based
compensation   -   32,600   -           (32,600)   5(c)   - 
Depreciation and amortization   -   17,800   -   6,365   4(a)   (24,165)   5(c)   - 
Other   -   25,800   -           (25,800)   5(c)   - 
Total costs of revenue and
operating expenses   254,370   217,700   246,021   37,953       -       756,044 
Income / (loss) from operations   59,209   (6,700)   (5,482)   (38,126)       -       8,901 
Interest and other income /
(expense), net                                 
Change in estimated contingent
consideration   (15,751)   -   -                   (15,751)
Interest income / (expense)   (1,003)   (2,800)   (12,046)           6,197   5(b)   (9,652)
Foreign exchange transaction gain
/ (loss)   -   (600)   -           765    5(f)    165
Loss on extinguishment of debt   (452)   -   -                   (452)
Other income / (expense)   (146)   (100)   -                   (246)
Total interest and other income /
(expense), net   (17,352)   (3,500)   (12,046)   -       6,962       (25,936)
Income / (loss) before income
taxes   41,857   (10,200)   (17,528)   (38,126)       6,962       (17,035) 
Income tax (benefit) / provision   (13,027)   (3,300)   247   6,040   4(d)           (10,040)
Net income / (loss)  $ 54,884  $ (6,900)  $ (17,775)  $ (44,166)      $ 6,962      $ (6,995) 
Basic net income per common
share  $ 0.62                          $ (0.07) 



Weighted-average common
shares outstanding, basic   88,514           5,817    4(e)           94,331 
Diluted net income per common
share  $ 0.57                          $ (0.07) 
Weighted-average common
shares outstanding, diluted   96,151           (1,820)   4(e)           94,331 
 

 

 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
1. Description of the Acquisition and Basis of Presentation

 
On May 25, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Digital Turbine, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), Digital Turbine Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“DT Media”), and Digital Turbine Luxembourg S.à r.l., a subsidiary of the Company, completed the initial closing of the acquisition of at
least 95% of the outstanding voting shares (the “Majority Fyber Shares”), of Fyber N.V., a public limited liability company registered with the Netherlands Chamber of
Commerce Business Register (“Fyber”), pursuant to a Sale and Purchase Agreement between Tennor Holding B.V., Advert Finance B.V., and Lars Windhorst (collectively, the
“Seller”), the Company, and DT Luxembourg. The Seller transferred and delivered 400,000,000 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to DT Media on the Closing Date, and the
Seller transferred and delivered another 125,805,997 shares of the Majority Fyber Shares to DT Media in June-July 2021. The remaining outstanding shares in Fyber (the
“Minority Fyber Shares”) are to the Company’s knowledge widely held by other shareholders of Fyber (the “Minority Fyber Shareholders”).
 
The Company acquired Fyber in exchange for an estimated aggregate consideration of up to $600 million, consisting of (i) $150 million in cash, which was subject to
adjustments for certain items including, approximately $124.3 million of which was paid to the Seller on the Closing Date and the remainder of which will be paid to the
Minority Fyber Shareholders for the Minority Fyber Shares pursuant to the tender offer described below, (ii) 3,216,935 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company
issued to the Seller at the closing of the acquisition, (iii) 2,540,364 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company issued to the Seller in June-July 2021, (iv) an
additional 59,289 newly-issued shares of common stock of the Company to be issued to the Seller but subject to a true-up reduction based on increased transaction costs
associated with the staggered delivery of the Majority Fyber Shares to the Company, and (v) contingent upon Fyber’s net revenues (determined in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards) being equal or higher than $100 million for the 12-month earn-out period ending on March 31, 2022, as determined in the manner set forth in the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, a certain number of shares of Company common stock, which will be newly-issued to the Seller at the end of the earn-out period, and under
certain circumstances, an amount of cash, which value of such shares and cash in aggregate will not exceed $50 million (subject to set-off against certain potential
indemnification claims against the Seller). The Company does not anticipate that Fyber will meet the net revenue goal and, thus, estimates that no contingent consideration will
be paid.
 
Pursuant to certain German law on public takeovers, following the closing, the Company launched a public tender offer to the Minority Fyber Shareholders to acquire from
them the Minority Fyber Shares. The tender offer is subject to certain minimum price rules under German law. The timing and the conditions of the tender offer, including the
consideration of EUR 0.84 per share offered to the Minority Fyber Shareholders in connection with the tender offer, was determined by the Company pursuant to the applicable
Dutch and German takeover laws. The Company anticipates completing the tender offer during the second fiscal quarter 2022.
 
Fyber is a leading mobile advertising monetization platform empowering global app developers to optimize profitability through quality advertising.  Fyber’s proprietary
technology platform and expertise in mediation, real-time bidding, advanced analytics tools, and video combine to deliver publishers and advertisers a highly valuable app
monetization solution.

 
Previously, on April 29, 2021 (“Closing Date”), Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “Company”) and Digital Turbine Media, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“DT
Media”) completed the acquisition of AdColony Holding AS (the “Target” or, together with its subsidiaries, “AdColony”), a company whose primary business activities
comprise mobile advertising. In connection with the completion of the acquisition, the Company paid cash of $100 million at closing, which is subject to adjustment for
customary closing purchase price adjustments. In addition, the Company will pay $100 million in cash six months after closing and an earn-out estimated to be between $200
million and $225 million based upon the Target achieving certain target net revenue (less associated cost of goods sold, as such term is referenced in the share purchase
agreement governing such acquisition) metrics for the twelve-month period ending on December 31, 2021.
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared based on the Company’s, Fyber’s and AdColony’s historical financial information,
giving effect to the acquisitions and related adjustments described in these notes to show how the acquisitions might have affected the historical financial statements if they had
been completed on April 1, 2020 for the purposes of the condensed combined statements of operations, and as of March 31, 2021 for purposes of the condensed combined
balance sheet. Given the comparable fiscal periods differ by one quarter, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations combines Fyber’s and
AdColony’s respective consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, with the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year
ended March 31, 2021. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet combines Fyber’s and AdColony’s condensed consolidated balance sheets as of December
31, 2020 with the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021. In addition, certain items have been reclassified from Fyber’s and AdColony’s
historical financial statements to align them with the Company’s financial statement presentation and accounting policies in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles in the United States. Fyber and AdColony prepare their respective consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”).
 
The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 805, Business Combinations.
The preliminary fair value of purchase consideration for the acquisition has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on a preliminary valuation of their
respective fair values and may change when the final valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is determined.
 
Accounting Policies
 
The accounting policies used in the preparation of this unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information are those set out in the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2021. The Company performed a preliminary review of Fyber’s and AdColony’s accounting policies to determine
whether any adjustments were necessary to ensure comparability in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information. The Company identified differences
and certain amounts that have been reclassified to conform to the Company’s financial statement presentation, as described below. At this time, the Company is not aware of
any other differences that would have a material effect on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information, including any differences in the timing of
adoption of new accounting standards. However, the Company will continue to perform its detailed review of Fyber’s and AdColony’s accounting policies and, upon
completion of that review, differences may be identified between the accounting policies of the companies that, when conformed, could have a material impact on the unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial information.
 

 

 

 
2. Calculation of Purchase Price and Preliminary Estimated Purchase Price Allocation
 



The following table sets forth a preliminary estimate of the purchase consideration and allocation of the estimated purchase consideration to the identifiable tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed of AdColony and Fyber based on their respective December 31, 2020 balance sheet, with the excess recorded as goodwill (in
thousands).
 
Consideration  AdColony   Fyber  
Cash paid at closing  $ 100,000  $ 124,336 
Cash to be paid in six months   98,552   - 
Fair value of common shares issued   -   359,232 
Fair value of contingent consideration   204,501   - 
Fair value of non-controlling interest   -   22,067 
Total consideration  $ 403,053  $ 505,635 
         
Cash and cash equivalents acquired   15,400   31,946 
Net tangible assets acquired   78,920   99,161 
Right of use assets acquired   2,088   4,000 
Net identifiable intangible assets acquired   194,000   258,283 
  $ 290,408  $ 393,390 
         
Accounts payable and other liabilities   69,999   102,829 
Deferred revenue   700   - 
Debt assumed   -   26,296 
Long-term liabilities   1,688   15,888 
Deferred tax liabilities   6,277   24,828 
  $ 78,664  $ 169,841 
         
Estimated fair value of net assets acquired  $ 211,744  $ 223,549 
Goodwill  $ 191,309  $ 282,086 
 

 

 

 
The purchase price allocation has been derived from estimates of the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities of Fyber and AdColony, using established
valuation techniques. Digital Turbine’s judgments used to determine the estimated fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as the
associated asset useful lives, can materially affect the results of operations of the Combined Company. The total purchase price has been allocated on a preliminary basis to
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon valuation studies and procedures performed to date. As of the date of this filing, the valuation studies and
procedures required to determine the fair value of the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the related allocations of purchase price are not complete. The final determination
of the fair values of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed may differ from the amounts reflected in the preliminary pro forma purchase
price allocation, and any differences could be material. Furthermore, the carrying values and, accordingly, fair values of Fyber’s and AdColony’s working capital accounts will
differ as of the Transaction date, as compared to the amounts reported as of December 31, 2020. In addition, the purchase price allocation for the Fyber transaction has been
accounted for in USD at the consolidated level. Push-down accounting was not utilized for this transaction and, thus no foreign currency translation adjustment has been
recognized. Digital Turbine will finalize the purchase price allocation as soon as practicable within the measurement period, but in no event later than one year following the
acquisition date.
 
3. Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet
 
The following analysis summarizes and provides explanations for the pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet presented
as of March 31, 2021:
 
(a) Adjustment records the cash purchase consideration paid to consummate the Transactions. Refer to Note 2 for additional details regarding the calculation of the cash purchase

consideration.
 

(b) Adjustment recorded to reflect acquired identifiable intangible assets, consisting of developed technology, trade names, customer and publisher relationships, and a lease at a
below market rate at their fair values in connection with the application of purchase accounting. Management has performed a preliminary valuation analysis to determine the
fair value of each of the identifiable intangible assets using the “income approach” as well as the “relief from royalty method.” Application of the income approach requires
management to forecast the expected future cash flows attributable to the intangible assets, which are then discounted to their present value. In addition to the forecasted
expected future cash flows, the relief from royalty method uses an estimated royalty rate.
 

 

 

 
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the identifiable intangible assets acquired upon consummation of the Transactions, the estimated useful lives of
the identifiable intangible assets, and the amount by which Fyber’s and AdColony’s historical intangible asset balances were adjusted on a pro forma basis to reflect the
identifiable intangible assets at their fair value:
 
Fyber
 

  Estimated Fair Value   
Estimated

Useful  
  (in thousands)   live in years  
Publisher Relationships  $ 106,400   20 
Developed Technology   86,900   7 
Trade Names   32,100   7 
Customer Relationships   31,400   3 
Below Market Lease   1,483   7.5 
Total Acquired Intangible Assets  $ 258,283     
         
Fyber's historical intangible assets balance   (10,731)     
         



Pro forma Transaction Accounting Adjustment  $ 247,552     
 
AdColony
 

  Estimated Fair Value   
Estimated 

Useful  
  (in thousands)   live in years  
Brand Customer Relationships  $ 91,400   15 
Performance Customer Relationships   11,000   8 
Developed Technology   51,100   7 
Trade Names   36,100   7 
Publisher Relationships   4,400   10 
Total Acquired Intangible Assets  $ 194,000     
         
AdColony's historical intangible assets balance   (2,382)     
         
Pro forma Transaction Accounting Adjustment  $ 191,618     
 
The preliminary estimates of fair value and estimated useful lives, could differ from the amounts ultimately determined upon completion of the valuation analysis, and the
difference could have a material effect on the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. A change in the valuation of the acquired
identifiable intangible assets would result in an offsetting change of the same amount to the amount of goodwill recorded in connection with the Transaction.

 
(c) Adjustment recorded to reflect the preliminary amount of goodwill resulting from the excess of purchase consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired, as if

the acquisitions occurred as of March 31, 2021. Refer to Note 2 for details regarding the allocation of purchase consideration and the calculation of Goodwill resulting from
the Transactions. The amount of Goodwill ultimately recognized in purchase price accounting as of the May 25, 2021 and April 29, 2021 acquisition closing dates for Fyber
and AdColony, respectively, will differ from amounts shown in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements due to changes to certain of Fyber’s and
AdColony’s reported current asset and liability balances subsequent to the date of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet. Goodwill resulting from the
acquisitions is not amortized and will be assessed for impairment at least annually.

 

 

 

 
The following table shows the calculation of the pro forma transaction accounting adjustments for both Fyber and AdColony (in $000s)
 
  Fyber   AdColony  
Opening balance sheet amount  $ 282,086  $ 191,309 
Less historical balance   158,240   182,156 
Pro forma adjustment  $ 123,846  $ 9,153 
 

(d) Adjustment removes Fyber’s and AdColony’s debt balances that were not assumed and were settled in connection with the consummation of the Transactions. The Fyber
adjustment reduced long-term loans and borrowings by $136,786 and AdColony removed $135,313 from short-term debt.
 

(e) Amount records the cash balance to be paid six months from the closing date of the AdColony Transaction and the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration
included as part of the consideration. Refer to Note 2 for additional details regarding the calculation of the purchase consideration. In addition, the amount includes $6,751 of
additional transactions costs related to both acquisitions that were incurred by Digital Turbine that had not been accrued as of March 31, 2021 as well as $170 of cash
transaction bonuses paid to employees that had not been accrued as of March 31, 2021. There were $2,500 of transactions costs recorded in the historical balance sheet of
Digital Turbine as of March 31, 2021.
 

(f) Adjustment reflects the removal of Fyber’s and AdColony’s historical equity balances.
 

(g) Amount records the effect of the additional transactions costs of $6,751 and the transaction bonuses of $170 as discussed in notation (e) in this Note above.
 

(h) Adjustment records the net increase of $40,000 of deferred tax liabilities recognized upon the AdColony acquisition offset by an increase of $7,869 to the deferred tax asset
as a result of the reduction of AdColony’s valuation allowance. In addition, adjustment records the $24,828 of net deferred tax liabilities for the Fyber transaction. The
historical deferred tax assets have been reduced to zero resulting in a net deferred tax liability of $18,142 on a pro forma basis.
 

(i) Adjustment records the fair value of the 5,817 common shares of the Company issued as part of the consideration of the Fyber Transaction. See Note 2 for additional details
regarding the calculation of the purchase consideration.
 

(j) Adjustment records the fair value of the non-controlling interest resulting from the Fyber Transaction. As this amount represents the initial estimate of fair value, the final
determination could change the amount reflected herein and any difference could be material. See Note 2 for additional details regarding the calculation of the purchase
consideration.

 
(k) Adjustment records an increase of $4,000 for the fair value of the right of use assets acquired in the Fyber transaction. As this amount reflects an initial estimate of fair value,

the final determination could change the amount reflected herein and any difference could be material.
 

 

 

 
4. Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

 
(a) Adjustment reflects the change in amortization expense recorded in AdColony’s historical financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, to record the

incremental amortization expense for the new intangible assets recorded in connection with the application of purchase accounting. Pro forma amortization expense has been
recorded based upon preliminary fair values and estimated useful lives disclosed in Note 3(b). The amortization expense increased from $14,000 to $20,365. See Note 5(c)
that reclassifies amortization expense to conform to Digital Turbine presentation.
 

(b) Amount reflects the reduction of revenue of $173 as AdColony was historically a customer of Digital Turbine and the corresponding reduction of $173 in license fees and
revenue share expenses.



 
(c) Amount reflects 1) the additional transaction costs of $6,751 that have been incurred by Digital Turbine that had not been included in the expenses for the year ended March

31, 2021, 2) $170 of cash transaction bonuses that were paid subsequent to March 31, 2021 and 3) the change in amortization expense recorded in Fyber’s historical financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, to record the incremental amortization expense for the new intangible assets recorded in connection with the application of
purchase accounting. Pro forma amortization expense has been recorded based upon preliminary fair values and estimated useful lives disclosed in Note 3(b). The
amortization expense increased from $8,144 to $32,984 for Fyber.
 

(d) Adjustment includes a reduction of the income tax benefit of $6,700 realized by Digital Turbine in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021 as a result of the release of the
valuation allowance caused by the assumption of $6,700 of deferred tax liabilities in the AdColony acquisition. The tax benefit of the valuation allowance release of
AdColony related to the assumed deferred tax liabilities, as discussed in Note 3(h), is not reflected in the pro forma income statement as this item is non recurring. This was
offset by a benefit of $660 for the transaction related adjustments.
 

(e) Adjustments reflect proforma basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding calculated as follows:
 

   Basic Shares    Diluted Shares 
Digital Turbine - as reported   88,514   96,151 
Issuance of equity shares as consideration to Fyber   5,817   5,817 
Removal of anti-dilutive shares   -   (7,637)
Digital Turbine - adjusted for proforma presentation   94,331   94,331 

 
The adjustment to remove anti-dilutive shares gives effect to the fact that a loss has been recognized for the period ended March 31, 2021 on a proforma basis. Accordingly,
Digital Turbine’s reported weighted-average dilutive shares were reduced to equal the weighted-average basic shares. 
 

5. Reclassification of AdColony’s Historical Statement of Operations and Other Transaction Accounting Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined
Balance Sheet and Statements of Operations
 

(a) Adjustment reflects the amount of debt incurred ($237,100), net of issuance costs ($2,970), by Digital Turbine under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to
consummate the transactions as well as the corresponding net cash received.
 

(b) Amount represents the net (increase)decrease to interest expense resulting from interest on the new debt incurred to finance the acquisitions of Fyber and AdColony
(including debt to be borrowed to fund the cash to be paid in six months from acquisition date), the extinguishment of certain of Fyber’s existing debt and all of AdColony’s
existing debt and the amortization of the related debt issuance costs as follows:

 
Year Ended March 31, 2021  Fyber   AdColony  
Elimination of interest expense -  outstanding debt not assumed  $ 9,644  $ 2,600 
Interest expense on new debt   (2,470)   (2,033)
Amortization of new debt issuance costs   -   (594)
Interest expense on cash to be paid in six months from acquisition date   -   (950)
Other transaction accounting adjustments to interest expense  $ 7,174  $ (977)

 

 

 

 
Interest expense on the new debt was calculated at the most current available variable rate of 1.9%. A change of 1/8 of one percent in the interest rate would change the
interest amount by approximately $357 annually.
 

(c) Adjustments reflect the historical AdColony expense categories to the Digital Turbine presentation. The payroll and related expenses, depreciation and amortization
(including the incremental expense described in note 4(a)) and other were reduced to zero and classified as product development, sales and marketing, and general and
administrative based upon management’s expectations.
 

(d) Adjustment reclassifies certain liabilities associated with license fees and revenue share from other current liabilities on AdColony to conform to the Digital Turbine
presentation.

 
(e) Adjustment reclassifies Fyber’s right of use asset recorded in property and equipment, net, to conform to the Digital Turbine presentation.
 
(f) Adjustment reflects transaction gain resulting from the $12,200 of funds advanced by Digital Turbine to Fyber subsequent to the acquisition date accounted for as an

intercompany loan expected to be settled. The amount was computed using a translation rate of $1 to €0.9174 at March 31, 2020 and $1 to €0.8547 at March 31, 2021.
 

 

 

 
6. Translation of Fyber’s Historical Financial Statements
 
Fyber has historically prepared and reported its financial information in Euros, its functional currency. However, Digital Turbine’s reporting currency is the US dollar.
Accordingly, Fyber’s historical financial information as of December 31, 2020 was translated from Euros into US dollars prior to inclusion in the unaudited pro forma
condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 and historical financial information for the year ended December 31, 2020 was translated prior to inclusion in the
unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2021. Information regarding Fyber’s historical financial information both prior
to and subsequent to translation, as well as the foreign currency exchange rates at which such information was translated into US dollars, is summarized below:
 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet – As of December 31, 2020
 
For purposes of preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2021, Fyber’s audited consolidated statement of financial position
(balance sheet) as of December 31, 2020 was translated from Euros into US dollars using the following foreign currency exchange rate in effect at December 31, 2020: €1.00 to
$1.23. In addition, the balance sheet has been classified according to the presentation in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet. The following table
illustrates the impact of translating Fyber’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 into US dollars:
 

  € (000s)   USD (000s)  



ASSETS         

Current assets         
Cash and cash equivalents   25,972   31,946 
Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts   64,983   79,929 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,016   3,710 
Total current assets   93,971   115,585 
Property and equipment, net   8,775   10,793 
Intangible assets, net   8,724   10,731 
Goodwill   128,650   158,240 
Other non-current assets   3,845   4,729 
TOTAL ASSETS   243,965   300,078 
         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY         
Current liabilities         
Trade and other payables   78,353   96,377 
Employee benefits   5,005   6,156 
Loans and borrowings, current   21,379   26,296 
Other current liabilities   241   296 
Total current liabilities   104,978   129,125 
Loans and borrowings   111,208   136,786 
Other non-current liabilities   12,917   15,888 
Total liabilities   229,103   281,799 
Stockholders' equity         
Common stock   37,219   45,779 
Additional paid-in capital   251,948   309,896 
Treasury stock   (4,551)   (5,598)
Other capital reserves   40,073   49,290 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (6,711)   (8,255)
Accumulated deficit   (303,116)   (372,833)
Total stockholders' equity   14,862   18,279 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   243,965   300,078 
 

 

 

 
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations – Year ended December 31, 2020
 
For purposes of preparing the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2021, Fyber’s audited consolidated statement of
loss (statement of operations) for the year ended December 31, 2020 was translated from Euros into US dollars using the following weighted-average foreign currency exchange
rate for the year: €1.00 to $1.1467. The following table illustrates the impact of translating Fyber’s audited results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 into US
dollars:
 

  € (000s)   USD (000s)  
Net revenues   209,772   240,539 
Costs of revenues and operating expenses         
Costs of revenues   179,276   205,570 
Sales and marketing   14,970   17,166 
General and administrative   7,745   8,881 
Research and development   12,100   13,875 
Other   461   529 
Total costs of revenues and operating expenses   214,552   246,021 
Loss from operations   (4,780)   (5,482)
Interest and other income / (expense), net   (10,505)   (12,046)
Loss before income taxes   (15,285)   (17,528)
Income tax expense   215   247 
Net loss   (15,500)   (17,775)
 

 

 


